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$000
2012

ToTal
2011

ToTal

Revenue 1,392,067 1,322,296

EBITDa 351,059 327,951

Depreciation 62,191 60,968

EBITa 288,868 266,983

Interest expense 82,049 87,875

Amortisation of borrowing costs 14,709 9,210

Amortisation of intangibles 23,675 21,228

Income tax expense 49,493 34,207

Non-recurring items – 34,700

Profit for the year after tax 118,942 79,763

Attributable to non-controlling interest 2,327 1,478

Profit attributable to members of the parent entity 116,615 78,285

CEnTs PEr sharE
2012

ToTal
2011

ToTal

Basic and diluted earnings per share – total1 23.3 15.8

Basic and diluted earnings per share – excluding non-recurring items 23.3 20.7

Final dividend2,3 6.0 5.0

Interim dividend2 5.0 3.0

11.0 8.0

1 Diluted earnings per share is materially consistent with basic earnings per share.

2 All dividends paid were 100% franked at the corporate income tax rate (2012: 30%; 2011: 30%).

3 The record date for determining entitlement to the final dividend is 21 September 2012 and is payable on 8 October 2012.
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The Directors of Primary Health Care Limited (“Primary”) announce the results for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (“FY2012”). 
Key points of the results are:

 – Operating EBITDA up 10% to $351.1m (2011: $318.6m)

 – Net profit after tax up 49% to $116.6m (2011: $78.3m)

 – Improvements in operating margins for all divisions

 – Basic EPS up 47% to 23.3 cents per share (2011: 15.8 cps)

 –  Final dividend up 20% to 6.0 cps (100% franked) (2011: 5.0 cps)

Operating overview
Primary has delivered a strong trading result for FY2012 with 10% operating EBITDA growth and 47% basic EPS growth.

This organic growth has been driven by strong revenue and margin gains. The strength of the trading result is reflected by the following 
key indicators:

 – Medical Centres EBITDA growth of 15% in the 57 large-scale centres 

 – Medical Centres margin up 50 bps to 55.2%

 – Pathology EBITDA growth of 11.6% to $132.4m and organic revenue growth of 6.1%

 – Pathology EBITDA margin for 2H FY2012 17.7%, up from 16.0% for 1H FY2012

 – Imaging EBITDA growth of 37% to $59.4m

 – Imaging EBITDA margin up 410 bps to 19.3%

Complementing this strong trading result, free cash-flow has improved significantly in the second six months of FY2012. Net cash 
provided by operating activities improved by $68m in FY2012 compared to FY2011.

During the year Primary decided to refinance its debt facility well ahead of its December 2012 maturity. Bank debt of $1.02bn was 
refinanced in October 2011 with $870m now maturing in February 2015 and $150m now maturing in October 2016. Margins were 
reduced, and further margin reductions are available on future Debt/EBITDA ratio reductions. Interest rate hedging in place for FY2013, 
FY2014 and FY2015 will ensure decreasing interest expense and consolidate EPS growth.

Outlook
Revenue growth trends continue to be favourable across the business. Primary’s model of strong organic revenue growth, supported by 
incremental margin gains as a result of economies of scale and operating efficiencies, is delivering in accordance with its strategy. All of 
Primary’s divisions are in strong operational shape, with well regarded management teams. 

Primary is able to look forward to strong growth as a result of the underlying strength of the business, positive industry dynamics, and 
long-term increasing demand for health care services. Primary has a substantial infrastructure footprint in place with significant growth 
capacity. Primary continues to focus upon its strategy of providing low cost, high quality health care services to more Australians.

Primary expects consolidation to continue within the healthcare industry and small bolt-on acquisitions, appropriately priced, may 
be available. 

EBITDA for FY2013 is expected to be in the range of $370m-$380m resulting in EPS growth of 20%-25%. 

Review of operations for the year ended 30 June 2012
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Division analysis

$m
YEar EnDED
30 JunE 2012

YEar EnDED
30 JunE 2011

sIx monThs To
31 DECEmBEr 2011

operating revenue

Medical Centres 290.0 274.6 144.7

Pathology 785.4 740.1 384.3

Imaging 307.9 285.0 153.1

Health Technology 48.7 48.9 24.6

Corporate1 1.2 3.0 0.8

Intersegment (41.1) (38.7) (21.3)

Total 1,392.1 1,312.9 686.2

operating EBITDa

Medical Centres 160.0 150.4 79.0

Pathology 132.4 118.6 61.3

Imaging 59.4 43.4 26.9

Health Technology 19.9 19.5 9.5

Corporate2 (20.6) (13.3) (9.9)

Total 351.1 318.6 166.8

margin

Medical Centres 55.2% 54.7% 54.6%

Pathology 16.9% 16.0% 16.0%

Imaging 19.3% 15.2% 17.6%

Health Technology 40.9% 39.9% 38.6%

Total 25.2% 24.3% 24.3%

1 FY2011 Corporate revenue excludes $9.4m re net litigation proceeds from operating revenue.

2 FY2011 Corporate EBITDA excludes $9.4m re net litigation proceeds from operating EBITDA.

Medical Centres
EBITDA for the Medical Centres division was $160.0m, compared with $150.4m for the prior year. The EBITDA margin for FY2012 was 
55.2%, compared with 54.7% for the prior year. EBITDA contribution from the large-scale centres increased by 15% from $140m to 
$161m. GP patient attendances grew 7% overall and 12% in Primary’s large-scale centres.

One new medical centre was opened in FY2012. A total of 76 medical centres, including 57 large-scale Primary centres, are now in 
operation. One new medical centre is planned to be opened in FY2013. Industry GP patient attendances have shown an improving trend 
in FY2012 as reflected by Medicare data. This trend has continued in the early part of FY2013. 

Pathology
EBITDA for the Pathology division was $132.4m, compared with $118.6m for the prior year. The EBITDA margin for FY2012 was 16.9%, 
compared with 16.0% for the prior year. The Pathology division’s revenue and EBITDA improvement in the financial year reflect strong 
organic revenue growth, combined with a return to more normal patterns of volume growth across the industry.

The five-year Pathology Funding Agreement, signed in April 2011 between the pathology industry and pathology providers, brings 
increased certainty to the industry. The last two years has seen a significant change in pathology industry dynamics and Primary has 
been re-positioning its Pathology division to competitively align itself in light of these changes.

Imaging
EBITDA for the Imaging division was $59.4m, compared with $43.4m for the prior year. The EBITDA margin for FY2012 was 19.3%, compared 
with 15.2% for the prior year. The strong results continue the improvement in EBITDA and margin which commenced in 2H FY2011.

Actual exam volumes for FY2012 grew 10.4%. Recruitment and conversion of radiologists to a percentage fee-for-service model, combined 
with upgraded technology, closing of uneconomical sites, and cost control, are the basis of the Imaging division’s improvement. 

Health Technology
EBITDA for the Health Technology division was $19.9m, compared with $19.5m for the prior year. The EBITDA margin for FY2012 was 
40.9% compared with 39.9% for the prior year. 

Subscription renewal rates remain high for all general practitioner and specialist software products. HCN is the largest provider of its 
kind in healthcare IT services in Australia, with leading positions in each of its core markets. The market is undergoing a structural 
change to a more interconnected eHealth model in which HCN will also play a major role.

3 Primary Health Care Ltd Annual Report 2012



Review of operations for the year ended 30 June 2012

Debt and interest expense 
On 21 October 2011 Primary completed financial close on the refinancing of Primary’s syndicated bank debt facility, which was due to 
mature in December 2012. The $1.02bn refinancing provides an extended bank debt maturity profile for Primary as follows:

 – $770m three year four month non-amortising facility, maturing in February 2015

 – $100m three year four month revolving working capital facility, maturing in February 2015

 – $150m five year non-amortising facility, maturing in October 2016

Margins payable by Primary have been reduced. 

During FY2012 Primary has taken advantage of falling interest rates to hedge the majority of its syndicated debt to July 2015 at the 
following average rates, excluding bank margin:

FInanCIal PErIoD avEragE FIxED raTE PaYaBlE on gross Bank loans (ExCluDIng margIn)

1H FY2013 4.25%

2H FY2013 3.80%

FY2014 3.65%

FY2015 3.30%

In addition, the rate on Primary’s Retail Bonds is hedged to its maturity in September 2015 at an all-in rate including margin to bond 
holders of approximately 8.75%.

Amortisation of borrowing costs
Unamortised borrowing costs on the expiring syndicated bank facility of $8.5m ($5.9m after tax) were charged to the income statement 
and are included in amortisation of borrowing costs of $14.7m in the period, upon the early refinance of Primary’s syndicated bank debt. 
Amortisation of borrowing costs expense is expected to be approximately $4.5m for FY2013. 

Corporate costs
Revenues comprise interest earned and dividends from the liquidator of Pan Pharmaceuticals Ltd (“Pan”). In FY2011 an amount of $9.4m 
for net litigation proceeds was also included in corporate revenue representing net proceeds from the Pan Class Action and other legacy 
litigation. 

Taxation
The effective tax rate on operating earnings for the year was 29.4%. 

Dividend
The final dividend will be 6.0 cents per share fully franked, payable on 8 October 2012. The record date for determining entitlement for 
the final dividend is 21 September 2012.
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Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012

The Directors of Primary Health Care Limited submit their Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 (referred to as “the 
year” or “2012”) accompanied by the financial report of Primary and the entities it controlled from time to time during the year (referred 
to as “Primary” or “the group”). In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors’ report as follows:

Directors
The Directors of Primary during and since the end of the 2012 financial year were: 

 – Mr Robert Ferguson

 – Dr Edmund Bateman

 – Mr Henry Bateman (from 7 October 2011)

 – Mr James Bateman (from 7 October 2011)

 – Mr Brian Ball

 – Mr John Crawford

 – Mr Andrew Duff (from 7 October 2011)

 – Dr Paul Jones 

 – Dr Errol Katz 

 – Ms Arlene Tansey (from 31 August 2012)

 – Mr Terence Smith (until 12 June 2012)

Details of the qualifications and experience of each of the Directors are set out on pages 7 to 9 of this Report.

Company Secretary
Details of the qualifications and experience of Ms Yvette Cachia, the Group Company Secretary are set out on page 9 of this Report.

Directors’ meetings during the year ended 30 June 2012
The number of meetings of the Board and of each Board committee held during the year ended 30 June 2012 (while each Director 
was a Director or committee member) and the number of meetings attended by each Director are set out below. 

BoarD oF DIrECTors auDIT CommITTEE
nomInaTIon anD 

rEmunEraTIon CommITTEE rIsk CommITTEE

hElD aTTEnDED hElD aTTEnDED hElD aTTEnDED

R Ferguson 12 12 2 2 4 4 N/A N/A

E Bateman 12 12 2* 2* 1# 1# N/A N/A

H Bateman** 7 7 1* 1* N/A N/A 1 1

J Bateman** 7 7 1* – N/A N/A 1 1

B Ball 12 12 2 2 4 4 N/A N/A

J Crawford 12 12 2 2 4 4 N/A N/A

A Duff** 12* 12* 2* 2* N/A N/A 1 1

T Smith** 12 9 N/A N/A 1* 1* N/A N/A

P Jones 12 12 2 2 1* 1* 1 1

E Katz 12 12 2* 2* 1* 1* 1 1

notes: 

* Attended a meeting by invitation.

# Dr Bateman attended one Nomination and Remuneration Committee by invitation during the financial year.

** The following individuals did not serve as Directors for the full financial year:

 – H Bateman, J Bateman, A Duff and T Smith; 

 –  Mr Duff attended all Board meetings by invitation in his capacity as the Chief Financial Officer prior to his appointment 
as a Director; and

 –  Mr Duff attended all Audit Committee meetings by invitation in his capacity as Chief Financial Officer prior to his appointment 
as a Director (from 7 October 2011).

The Audit Committee for the year ended 30 June 2012 comprised: Mr Brian Ball (Chair), Mr Rob Ferguson, Mr John Crawford and 
in addition, from 1 January 2012, Dr Paul Jones.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee for the year ended 30 June 2012 comprised: Mr Rob Ferguson (Chair), Mr Brian Ball, 
Mr John Crawford, Mr Terence Smith (until 12 June 2012) and in addition, from 1 January 2012, Dr Errol Katz. 

The Risk Committee for the year ended 30 June 2012 commenced from 1 January 2012 comprised: Dr Errol Katz (Chair), Mr James 
Bateman, Mr Henry Bateman, Mr Andrew Duff and Dr Paul Jones.

Details of committee membership and functions are further set out in the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 20 to 27 of this Report.

Significant change in the state of affairs
There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group during the year.
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Principal activities
During the year, the principal continuing activities of the Group were:

 – a medical centre operator;

 – diagnostic imaging services;

 – a provider of pathology; and

 – a provider of health technology.

As a medical centre operator, the Group provides a range of services and facilities to general practitioners, specialists and other health 
care providers who conduct their own practices and businesses at its medical centres. Further details of these activities can be found on 
pages 44 to 45 of this Report.

Review and results of operations 
A review of the operations of the Group during the year, and the results of those operations, can be found on pages 1 to 4 of this Report.

Events after the end of the year
There has not been any matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of Directors, has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
Group in future financial years.

Future developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the Group in future financial years and the expected results 
of those operations other than that disclosed in this Report is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group. Accordingly, no 
further information is included in this Report. 

Dividends
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2011, a final dividend of 5 cents per share (100 per cent franked), was paid to the holders 
of fully paid ordinary shares on 10 October 2011. 

In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2012:

 – an interim dividend of 5 cents per share (100% franked), was paid to the holders of fully paid ordinary shares on 16 April 2012; and

 –  the Directors have approved the payment of a final dividend of 6 cents per share (100% franked), to the holders of fully paid ordinary 
shares, the record date being 21 September 2012, payable on 8 October 2012. 

Primary operates a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) and a Bonus Share Plan (BSP). During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, shares 
issued pursuant to the DRP and BSP were 3,840,301 (2011: 5,415,730) and 337,210 (2011: 325,116) respectively.

Rounding off of amounts
Primary is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order, amounts in the 
Directors’ Report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, or where the amount is $500 or less, zero in 
accordance with that Class Order. 

Shares under option
Options are held by both employees and independent contractors of the Group. Details of all un-issued ordinary shares of Primary under 
option at the date of this Report are set out below. Further details of options are set out in note 7 to the financial statements in this 
Report. No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of Primary or of any other entity. 
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2012
oPEnIng
BalanCE 

granTED
DurIng YEar

ExErCIsED
DurIng YEar

laPsED
DurIng YEar

ClosIng
BalanCE

Issue 7a 200,000 – – (200,000) –

Issue 12 110,000 – – (110,000) –

Issue 13 30,000 – – – 30,000

Issue 15 1,261,000 – – (15,000) 1,246,000

Issue 16 893,000 – – (141,000) 752,000

Issue 17 675,500 – – (50,000) 625,500

Issue 101 125,000 – (70,000) (55,000) –

Issue 104 323,500 – (50,000) (273,500) –

Issue 106 150,000 – – – 150,000

Issue 107 755,000 – – (425,000) 330,000

Issue 108 30,000 – – – 30,000

Issue 109 545,000 – – (82,500) 462,500

Issue 110 562,500 – – (100,000) 462,500

Issue 111 320,000 – – (40,000) 280,000

Issue 112 1,125,000 – – (110,000) 1,015,000

Issue 113 2,315,000 – – (470,000) 1,845,000

Issue 114 5,495,000 – – (387,000) 5,108,000

Issue 115 1,425,000 – – (342,500) 1,082,500

Balance as at 
30 June 2012 13,419,000

Shares issued on the exercise of options
The following ordinary shares of Primary were issued during or since the end of the year on the exercise of options. No amounts are 
unpaid on any of the shares. 

ExErCIsE PrICE aT
ExErCIsE DaTE numBEr

During the year Issue 101 $0.43 70,000

Issue 104 $3.14 50,000

Issue 103 $2.10 136,000

Since the end of the year 0

Qualifications, experience and special responsibilities of Directors 

Mr Robert Ferguson. B.Ec (Hons). Non-executive Chairman (age 67)
Mr Ferguson was appointed Non-executive Chairman of the Board on 1 July 2009. He is Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and member of the Audit Committee. 

Mr Ferguson is currently Non-executive Chairman of IMF (Australia) Limited, a Director of Moneyswitch Limited and Chairman of GPT 
Management Holdings Limited. Mr Ferguson is also Deputy Chair of the Sydney Institute and a Director of the Lowy Institute.

Dr Edmund Gregory Bateman, M.B.,B.S. Managing Director (age 70)
Dr Bateman was a founding member of the Board as Managing Director and CEO in 1994. He has overseen the development of the 
Primary Group, from the establishment of its first 24 hours medical centre in 1985, through to the ASX-listed entity it has become today.

Mr James Bateman, MBA. Executive Director (age 44)
Mr Bateman is the General Manager of the Primary Group’s Pathology division and a member of the Risk Committee. Mr Bateman has a 
Masters of Business Administration in health care management from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania. 

Mr Bateman joined the Company in 1989 and has had significant experience across the divisions of the Primary Group, including various 
management roles in the medical centre, diagnostic imaging, and information technology divisions, including as the Chief Operating 
Officer. He has been General Manager of Pathology since 2001 and has overseen the successful merger and integration of major 
pathology laboratories throughout Australia. 

Mr Bateman is a Director of a significant number of the Company’s wholly-owned operational subsidiaries.
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Mr Henry Bateman, LLB. Executive Director (age 36)
Mr Bateman is General Manager of the Company’s Medical Centre division and a member of the Risk Committee. Mr Bateman has a 
Bachelor of Laws from Bond University. Mr Bateman joined the Company in 2000. 

Mr Bateman is the General Manager of the Company’s Medical Centres division and is responsible for the operation of medical centres 
nationally. Formerly a commercial lawyer with Norton Smith Solicitors, his experience in the Primary Group includes previous roles as 
Company Solicitor overseeing the development of the Primary Group’s commercial litigation and contracts, industrial relations policy 
and procedure. In 2004, Mr Bateman became Head of Operations, Medical Centres, establishing a management team and structure 
that conducted the rapid roll-out and development of large-scale medical models, before becoming General Manager of Medical 
Centres in early 2008. He has overseen the successful merger and integration of major medical centres throughout Australia.

Mr Bateman is a Director of all of the Company’s wholly-owned operational medical centre subsidiaries. 

Mr Brian Ball, B.Ec. Non-executive Director (age 63)
Mr Ball is a Non-executive Director of the Company who was first appointed in 1994. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Mr Ball is a part-owner of the private equity management company, Advent Private Capital Pty Ltd. Mr Ball joined Advent in 1986 
and was the Chairman or a Director of over 25 investee businesses receiving equity capital from funds managed by the Advent Group, 
as well as the Advent IV and Advent V private equity management funds. 

Mr John David Crawford. ANZIIF (Senior Associate), FAICD. Non-executive Director (age 74)
Mr Crawford joined the Board in 1998 as a Non-executive Director. He is a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee. 

Mr Crawford has had extensive insurance and management experience including as Deputy Group Managing Director of GIO Australia, 
Chairman of AA-GIO Insurance (NZ) and Freemans Australia and Deputy Chairman of RAA Insurance Ltd and RACQ Insurance Ltd. He is 
also a former Director of Northern Medical Research Foundation and a former Deputy Chairman of Manly Warringah Area Health Service.

Mr Andrew Duff ACA, Finance Director (age 51)
Mr Duff is the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. Mr Duff is a Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He is a 
member of the Risk Committee.

Mr Duff joined the Company following its public listing in 1998. Prior to joining the Company, Mr Duff was Chief Accountant of Medical 
Defence of Australia from 1995 to 1998, an Insolvency Manager from 1993 to 1995, and a Senior Audit Manager at Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu in both London and Sydney from 1985 to 1993. Mr Duff’s responsibilities include managing all aspects of the Primary Group’s 
financial affairs, capital management, taxation matters and liaison with external shareholders, investors, analysts and regulators.

Mr Duff is a Director of a significant number of the Company’s wholly-owned operational subsidiaries.

Dr Paul Francis Jones, M.B.,B.S., F.A.M.A. Non-executive Director (age 57)
Dr Jones was appointed as a Non-executive Director in 2010. He is a member of the Audit Committee and the Risk Committee. Dr Jones 
has 30 years’ experience in a broad range of general medical practice, including five years’ experience in the Primary Group’s medical 
centres. Dr Jones originally trained at the Repatriation and General Hospital, Concord NSW and subsequently at Calvary Public Hospital, 
Bruce ACT. He has been a Director and Federal Councillor of the Australian Medical Association (“AMA”), a past President of AMA ACT and 
a member of the Federal AMA Council of General Practice. He was formerly a general practitioner adviser to Calvary Public Hospital and 
held roles as GPVMO and Director, Medical Education Program. Dr Jones is a former Chair of ACT GP Workforce Working Group and a 
member in 2009 of the ACT Health Minister’s GP Task Force. In 2010 he was awarded Fellowship of the AMA.

Dr Errol Katz MB, BS (Hons), LLB (Hons), MPP. Non-executive Director (age 42)
Dr Katz was appointed as a Non-executive Director in 2010. He is Chairman of the Risk Committee. Dr Katz has degrees in Medicine and 
Law from Monash University, and a Masters in Public Policy from Harvard University, where he was a Menzies Scholar. He has worked 
as a doctor at The Alfred Hospital, as a strategy consultant at The Boston Consulting Group, and in strategy and operational roles at 
Visy Industries. More recently he has held investment management roles at Co-Investor Capital Partners. Dr Katz has previously held a 
number of board roles in the public and private sector.

Dr Katz currently works in private equity and investments.  He is a Director of Southern Health, the largest public hospital network in Victoria. 
At Southern Health, Dr Katz chairs the Quality Committee, and is a member of the Remuneration and Population Health Committees.

Ms Arlene Tansey, Juris Doctor (JD), BBus(Admin), MBA (age 55)
Ms Tansey joined the Board in August 2012 as a Non-executive Director. She holds a Juris Doctorate (Law) from University of Southern 
California, a Bachelor of Business Administration from Pace University and an MBA in finance and international business from New York 
University. She is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Ms Tansey was previously with the ANZ Bank where she held a number of senior executive roles, most recently Managing Director, 
Balance Sheet Management for the Institutional Bank where she worked for ten years. Prior to that Ms Tansey was an Associate Director 
at Macquarie Bank in Project and Structured Finance following her move to Australia from the United States where she held positions in 
securities law and investment banking. 

Ms Tansey is currently a Non-executive Director of Adelaide Brighton Limited, Pacific Brands Group, Lend Lease Real Estate Investments 
Limited and Lend Lease Investment Management Limited. 
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Mr Terence Smith. AM MBE RFD ED. Non-executive Director (age 70) 
Mr Smith joined the Board in May 2008 as a Non-executive Director and retired on 12 June 2012. He was a member of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee. From February 1990 until his retirement on 9 July 2010, Mr Smith was the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Hospital Contribution Fund of Australia Limited Group (“HCF”). This included appointments as Managing Director 
of the Manchester Unity Friendly Society and Executive Director on the HCF Life Insurance Company Board.

Company Secretary

Ms Yvette Cachia. B.Ed, MA (Dist.), LLB (Hons 1), Grad Dip Applied Corporate Governance, MAICD,  
General Manager, People and Governance, and Group Company Secretary
Ms Cachia was appointed to the position of Group Company Secretary in 2008 and the General Manager, People and Governance 
in 2011. She is a member of the New South Wales Bar Association and the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Ms Cachia is a 
Non-executive Director of the SMILE Foundation, for children with rare diseases. Before joining Primary, Ms Cachia worked as a Company 
Secretary for a range of ASX listed entities in the technology and mining sectors, in addition to her work as a Barrister.

Directors’ shareholdings
The following table sets out each current Director’s relevant interest in shares (directly and indirectly owned) in Primary as at the date of 
this Report. 

2012
oPEnIng
BalanCE

rECEIvED DurIng ThE
YEar on ThE ExErCIsE

oF oPTIons
oThEr ChangEs

DurIng ThE YEar
ClosIng
BalanCE

R Ferguson 190,800 – – 190,800

B Ball 87,000 – – 87,000

EG Bateman 35,061,405 – 1,149,562 36,210,967

H Bateman 129,484 – 326 129,810

J Bateman 90,936 – (27,000) 63,936

JD Crawford 79,711 – 2,777 82,488

A Duff 25,720 – 22,000 47,720

P Jones 10,000 – 4,200 14,200

E Katz – – – –

T Smith – – – –

A Tansey – – – –

Indemnification of officers and auditors
During the year, Primary paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors and Executive Officers of Primary and of any 
related body corporate, against liability incurred that is permitted to be covered by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001. It is a 
condition of the insurance contract that its limits of indemnity, the nature of the liability indemnified, and the amount of the premium 
not be disclosed. 

The Constitution of Primary provides that each officer of Primary must be indemnified by Primary against any liability incurred by 
that person in that capacity. However, Primary must not indemnify that person if to do so would be prohibited by section 199A of the 
Corporations Act 2001, any other statutory provision, or judge-made law.

Non-audit services
During the year Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Primary’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition to their statutory duties. 
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of these non-audit services by the auditor (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s 
behalf) is compatible with, and did not compromise, the auditor independence requirement of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The Audit Committee reviews the non-audit services performed by the auditor on a case-by-case basis. A new policy was adopted in July 
2008 which outlines when they will approve non-audit services by the auditor. Further details are outlined in the Corporate Governance 
Report on pages 20 to 27 of this Report. 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is included in this 
Directors’ Report. Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor of Primary and its related bodies Corporate for audit and non-audit 
services provided during the year are outlined in note 9 on page 51 of this Report. 
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Management of safety risks
Primary is committed to ensuring that the health and safety of all employees, sub-contractors and the general public is given the highest 
priority. Primary’s OHS performance is monitored through regular monthly reports being provided to senior management and quarterly 
performance reporting to the Board. Health and safety is incorporated into business planning, purchasing and contracting policies and 
the design of workplaces.

Our key strategic goal continues to be to minimise the number of incidents that result in lost time by employees, and our performance 
in this area is regularly monitored across all business units. 

In order to improve our health and safety performance, resources are allocated to the maintenance and improvement of the OHS 
management system. During the year ended 30 June 2012 there was a detailed review which resulted in the re-allocation of resources 
to improve the effectiveness of the OHS Management System. Professional health and safety staff work very closely with the Employee 
Representative Committees which have been established over a number of years in order to incorporate employee representation and 
consultation into health and safety initiatives as well as a forum for disseminating information to improve health and safety across all 
business units.

We recognise our responsibilities to contractors. As part of our health and safety procedures, contractors are required to 
provide evidence that they have OHS management systems in place. Workplace induction is provided to contractors prior to the 
commencement of any work. We also have monitoring procedures in place for addressing any health and safety issues that may arise.

Key health and safety performance indicators are as follows:

2012 2011

Number of WorkCover prosecutions ZEro ZERO

Number of sites subject to OHS Internal Audit 29 30

Number of Incidents Resulting in Lost Time Injuries 109 110

Incidents are subject of investigation and it would appear that there was no systematic breakdown in the OHS Management System 
during the year ended 30 June 2012. 

Primary has a comprehensive program of health and safety internal audits that are conducted over all business units during the course 
of the year. Audit findings may be either areas of non conformance with OHS procedures or be areas for improvement. All findings 
are discussed with auditees before being finalised. The final reports are presented to senior management and include the findings, 
recommendations to address findings, persons responsible for implementation of recommendations and timeframes for implementation.

Training in health and safety is provided to staff at induction to ensure staff perform their duties safely. Further training is provided when 
specific issues are identified through regular workplace supervision, hazard reporting and regular inspections.

Primary is engaged in continuous improvement to raise health and safety standards. During the year Primary focused on reducing the 
incidence of needle-stick injuries along with dealing with abusive/aggressive incidents. These health and safety initiatives are designed 
to reinforce key parts of the OHS management system to all business units in a 12 month cycle.

During the year to 30 June 2012 Primary undertook a comprehensive review of the OHS Management System in order to implement 
changes arising from the new Work Health Safety legislation that has been adopted in certain States and Territories. This review has 
resulted in a revision to the WHS Manual and a re-issue of the WHS Policy. These amendments were subject to consultation with the 
workforce prior to release.

During the year to 30 June 2013, it is planned to continue the implementation of changes arising from the legislative changes that 
have occurred.
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rEmunEraTIon rEPorT

The Directors of Primary Health Care Limited present the Remuneration Report prepared in accordance with section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for Primary and the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2012.

The information provided in this Remuneration Report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
This Remuneration Report forms part of the Directors’ Report. 

A. Executive Remuneration
This Remuneration Report outlines Primary’s remuneration policy and practices, together with details of the specific remuneration 
arrangements that apply to key management personnel (“kmP”) and the five highest remunerated executives of the Company and 
the group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The Report provides:

 –  an overview of Primary’s executive remuneration strategy and linkage, between the strategy and the components of executive 
remuneration;

 – details of the Directors and Senior Executives covered by this report; and 

 – details of the actual remuneration outcomes for Senior Executives.

For the purpose of this report, KMP of the group are defined as those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the major activities of the company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether 
executive or otherwise) of the Company. For the purpose of this report, the term “executive” encompasses the Group Managing Director, 
Senior Executives and general managers of the Company and the Group for the 2012 financial year. 

Senior Executives
Throughout this Remuneration Report, the term “Senior Executives” is used to refer to:

 – the 5 most highly remunerated Company and Group executives; and

 –  all other executives who fall within the definition of key management personnel of the Group, being those persons with authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, including the Managing Director.

kmP (2012) TITlE

Dr Edmund Bateman

mr James Bateman

mr andrew Duff

mr henry Bateman

mr John Frost

mr Carl adams

managing Director

general manager – Pathology

Finance Director

general manager – medical Centres

Chief Executive officer – health Technology

general manager – Diagnostic Imaging

kmP (2011) TITlE

Dr Edmund Bateman

Mr James Bateman

Mr Andrew Duff

Mr Henry Bateman

Mr John Frost

Mr Carl Adams

Mr Matthew Bardsley

Managing Director

General Manager – Pathology

Chief Financial Officer

General Manager – Medical Centres

Chief Executive Officer – Health Technology

General Manager – Diagnostic Imaging

Chief Information Officer
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Board Policy on Remuneration
Primary recognises that remuneration is an important factor in attracting, motivating and retaining key employees. 

The objectives of Primary’s remuneration strategy are to:

 – ensure that shareholders’ interests and employee interests are in alignment;

 – attract and retain high calibre employees by providing benchmarked, market-competitive remuneration; and

 –  fairly and responsibly reward senior management having regard to the overall performance of Primary, and the performance 
of the senior manager.

Primary believes that its remuneration strategy should:

 – align with business strategy and the creation of sustainable business and value for shareholders;

 – recognise and reward individual performance and maintain accountability for key job goals;

 –  align employee remuneration with specific and measurable individual and corporate objectives and targets that are linked 
to shareholders’ interests;

 – be appropriately benchmarked and market-competitive;

 –  incorporate measures which integrate variable pay elements for short-term and long-term performance which link executive reward 
with strategic goals and Group performance and reward Senior Executives for Group, business unit and individual performance against 
appropriate benchmarks and targets;

 – incorporate performance measures which drive incentive outcomes and differentiate between average and high performers;

 – clearly differentiate between short and long-term reward levers; and

 – implement mandatory deferral arrangements.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is appointed and authorised by the Board to assist the Board in fulfilling its statutory 
and fiduciary duties. The Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board about:

 – necessary and desirable competencies of Directors;

 – Board succession plans;

 – the development of a process for the evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committees and Directors; 

 – the appointment and re-election of Directors; 

 – the Company’s remuneration, recruitment, retention and termination policies and procedures for Senior Executives;

 – Senior Executives’ remuneration and incentives;

 – superannuation arrangements; and 

 – the remuneration framework for Directors. 

Membership of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is determined on an annual basis by the Board. The Committee comprises 
at least three Directors, all of whom are independent. The composition of the Committee is reviewed annually. During the year ended 
30 June 2012, members of the Committee were:

 – Mr Rob Ferguson (Chairman)

 – Mr Brian Ball

 – Mr John Crawford

 – Mr Terence Smith (until 12 June 2012)

 – Dr Errol Katz (from 1 January 2012)

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has the authority to seek information which is relevant to its functions, from any officer 
or employee of the Company. The Committee has the authority to retain legal, accounting or other advisers, consultants or experts which 
it considers appropriate, to assist it to meet its responsibilities in developing remuneration recommendations for the Board by providing 
independent advice regarding remuneration strategies, incentive plans and objective market practice of other listed companies. 

Primary recognises the importance of ensuring that any recommendations given to the remuneration of KMP provided by remuneration 
consultants are provided independently of those to whom the recommendations relate. The engagement of a remuneration consultant 
which makes recommendations on KMP must be approved by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The consultant must only 
provide the recommendations about remuneration of KMP to the Committee, rather than to company executives. The remuneration 
consultant and the Board must make separate declarations that the recommendation about remuneration is free from undue influence 
by the KMP to which the recommendation relates. 
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External Consultants Engaged in 2012

ConsulTanT
CommITTEE anD BoarD

EngagEmEnTs managEmEnT EngagEmEnTs

King and Wood Mallesons – Advice on legislative tax changes in relation to 
the Primary Performance Rights Plan Trust Deed

No external remuneration consultants were engaged to assist the Nomination and Remuneration Committee during the year ended 
30 June 2012. 

No fees for Executive Directors
During the year ended 30 June 2012, Mr James Bateman, Mr Andrew Duff and Mr Henry Bateman were appointed as Executive Directors 
of the Board as part of the Company’s long-term succession planning process. None of these Executive Directors receive a fee for service 
for their role as Director. 

Components of Remuneration
Remuneration for Senior Executives has the following components: 

Fixed Annual Remuneration 
The terms of employment for all Senior Executives contain a fixed remuneration component expressed as a dollar amount. The 
executive may take this amount in a form agreed with Primary. Fixed annual remuneration (“Far”) is made up of base salary, company 
superannuation contributions and benefits, including fringe benefits tax. This amount of remuneration is not “at risk”, but is set by 
reference to appropriate benchmark information for an individual’s responsibilities, performance, qualifications, experience and location. 

Fixed Remuneration Overview

Components of fixed remuneration FAR comprising base salary, benefits (including superannuation) and applicable fringe benefits 
tax (as a total cost to the Company), is determined on an individual basis, depending on the 
size and scope of the position, functional responsibilities, the importance of the role to the 
Company and the external market.

Each KMP’s salary is reviewed annually by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
as part of each individual’s participation in the Primary Performance Rights Plan 
(“PPrP”). The Committee reviews the skills, knowledge, accountability and general 
performance of each KMP in line with external market reviews of comparatively 
benchmarked companies in Australia.

review of fixed remuneration Fixed remuneration remains constant throughout the year. FAR for each PPRP participant 
is reviewed annually, but variations remain discretionary and are not guaranteed.

Benchmarks for setting fixed remuneration The Nomination and Remuneration Committee obtains external data based on an 
analysis of ASX 200 entities, market capitalisation, revenue, number of employees and 
industry type. The Committee also considers market comparisons for similar roles, level 
of responsibility, and the performance and potential of the executive. 

“At risk” Remuneration 

Option Plan 
Options may be issued to Senior Executives under Primary’s Employee Option Plan at the sole discretion of the Board. Further details 
of the Plan are included in note 7 to the financial statements. The Board will not consider issuing options to Senior Executive in the 
normal course of events until the executive has served a minimum of two years with Primary. The options will normally be exercisable 
a minimum of three years after date of issue to the Senior Executive. 

No offer of Options was made to any individuals defined as KMP in the year ended 30 June 2012. During the year, no Senior Executive 
exercised options that were granted to them as part of their compensation. 

Primary Performance Rights Plan
During the year ended 30 June 2010, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee reviewed Primary’s executive remuneration 
arrangements. The Board engaged Egan & Associates to assist in this review. The review was designed to consider strategies to 
enhance the link between performance-based compensation and actual business performance. At Primary’s Annual General Meeting 
on 26 November 2010, shareholders approved the establishment of a Primary Performance Rights Plan (“PPRP”). The PPRP aims to 
link the long-term remuneration of Senior Executives with the economic benefit derived by shareholders over a three-year period. The 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for administering the PPRP in accordance with the PPRP Rules. Participation is 
not open to Non-executive Directors. 

The PPRP will allow the grant of Performance Rights to eligible participants. A performance right is a conditional right to acquire a share, 
subject to the achievement of specified service and performance hurdles. 

The PPRP was established to:

 – align the remuneration of Senior Executives with shareholder value;

 – encourage ongoing and sustained performance;

 – assist in retaining key executives;

 –  link Senior Executive remuneration to the achievement of performance conditions and service conditions over an extended period; and

 – provide opportunities to Senior Executives to share in the growth and value of Primary.

13 Primary Health Care Ltd Annual Report 2012



Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012

The Board will determine the applicable performance hurdles 12 months prior to any grant of a performance right. The hurdles may 
reflect Primary’s business plans, targets, budgets and performance objectives. It is proposed that offers of performance rights will be 
made annually, following announcement of Primary’s full-year results. The PPRP Rules provide the Board with flexibility in the design 
of the annual offer and may include both a short-term incentive (“sTI”) and long-term incentive (“lTI”) component which is linked to 
specified performance hurdles. 

The Board takes a number of factors into account when setting short and long-term incentive hurdles, including market consensus on 
future earnings, revenue and EBITDA growth and external factors such as the regulatory environment in which Primary operates. 

Both the STI and LTI remuneration components of the PPRP are “at risk”. The STI is an annual bonus which is linked to both Group 
performance and the achievement of certain key performance indicators (“kPI”) which are based on a range of financial measures. KPI 
measures are personal to each participant, but include hurdles such as capital and financial management, strategic financial planning, 
OH&S and risk management, team leadership and succession planning. 

The LTI will be annually reviewed and updated by the Board to reflect the Board’s expectation for the following year in order to take 
account of current market conditions and outlook. 

An explanation of the way in which both the short-term and long-term incentive arrangements will be assessed in respect of the year 
ended 30 June 2012 is as follows:

Design of short-term incentive (“STI”) for the year ended 30 June 2012

Annual Board
Assessment  

Tier  – %  

Tier  – %  

Tier  – %  

Tier  – %  

Tier  – %  

Tier  – %  

Tier  – %  

Tier  – %   STI Award  

Maximum STI Award – % of Base Salary
 

 Cash Payment  

Invitation to
participate 

%
EPS growth -%  

%
Key Performance Indicators   

STI arrangements for the year ended 30 June 2012 comprised an at risk incentive payment based on a percentage of a participant’s base 
salary and encompassed both a Group EPS target and individual key performance indicators. A range of key performance indicators 
are used to assess individual performance and a tiered structure caps the percentage of base salary available to each participant. This 
approach allows Primary’s Senior Executives to move between levels as their roles develop and change. 40% of the short-term incentive is 
linked to Group Earnings Per Share (“EPs”) performance with payment of cash increasing in equal increments for each percentage of EPS 
growth from 5%-12% (up to a cap of 40% of the maximum STI payment). 60% of the short-term incentive relates to the achievement of KPI 
hurdles as independently assessed by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee following recommendation from the relevant line 
manager and then approved by the Board. No short-term incentive is payable to those participants who leave employment during the 
assessment year or period.

Design of long-term incentive (“LTI”) for the year ended 30 June 2012

Grant performance
rights 

Vesting date  
Board

Assessment
 Annual review of

EPS target 
 

Vesting date  Vesting date  

Yr 
/

Yr 
/ 

Yr 
/

 yr restriction 
 yr restriction

 

Tier  – %

Tier  – %

 

Tier  – % 

Tier  – %
 

% vested
no further restriction

2012

14



Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012

LTI arrangements for the year ended 30 June 2012 comprised an at risk incentive based on an EPS target with the initial grant of 
performance rights linked to equal increments for each percentage of EPS growth from 5%-12%. 

This LTI target will be reviewed and assessed by the Board each year. Following an initial grant to a participant, up to a maximum of 1/3 
of that participant’s performance rights will vest each year to a maximum of three years from the date of the grant. Any performance 
right granted will be based on the volume weighted average price for Primary’s listed ordinary shares on the five trading days 
immediately preceding the date of the first grant. There are no accelerated vesting provisions, save for change of control, scheme, 
winding up, delisting or on divestment of a business division in which the relevant senior executive participant will continue to be 
employed. All unvested rights automatically lapse upon termination or date of leaving.

The vesting schedule of the performance rights subject to the EPS conditions is as follows:

avEragE ComPounD growTh EPs ovEr ThE  
PErFormanCE PErIoD In ThE YEar EnDED 30 JunE 2012

PErCEnTagE oF PErFormanCE rIghTs ThaT  
maY vEsT IF ThE EPs ConDITIon Is mET

Less than 5% pa 0% of the performance rights subject to the EPS condition

At 6.5% pa 25% of the performance rights subject to the EPS condition

More than 8% pa but less than 9% pa 50% of the performance rights subject to the EPS condition 

More than 10% but less than 11% 75% of the performance rights subject to the EPS condition

At 12% pa or greater 100% of the performance rights subject to the EPS condition

Rights are offered at no cost to Senior Executives. They do not carry voting rights, however once vested, they carry the same rights as 
other ordinary shares. Senior Executives are not entitled to hedge or trade their unvested performance rights.

Primary may acquire shares supporting the performance rights that it has granted as a LTI under the PPRP. The price paid by Primary for 
the ordinary shares will be the prevailing market price of the shares at the time of on-market purchase. All shares acquired on market 
will be held in trust. 

The incremental LTI hurdle based on EPS (requiring Group EPS growth over the performance period of between 5% and 12%) was 
selected by the Board because of its clear link to shareholder returns and the overall strategic objectives of the Group. 

At the beginning of each year the Board establishes a threshold and maximum EPS metric for the new assessment year. 

The EPS performance condition is determined by dividing the operating profit attributable to the Primary Group by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. Growth in EPS will be measured by comparing the EPS in the base year 
and subsequent measurement years as adjusted for unusual items as considered appropriate by the Board.

The final determination of Primary’s financial performance is determined after reviewing the Company’s audited financial results for the 
relevant period. Financial targets are assessed quantitatively against the pre-determined targets. Where possible, non-financial targets 
are also assessed quantitatively and otherwise they are assessed by annual qualitative performance appraisal. 

When a participant ceases employment prior to the vesting of their Performance Rights, the Share Rights lapse unless cessation of 
employment is due to retirement, total and permanent disablement, redundancy or death. In the event of a change of control all the 
performance rights will vest.

Details of contracts of CEO and Senior Executives
The remuneration and other terms of employment for Senior Executives are not formalised in employment and service agreements. However, 
each Senior Executive is entitled to leave and notice provisions in accordance with the relevant State or Commonwealth legislation. 
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Summary of Fixed and At-Risk Remuneration

FIxED rEmunEraTIon

PrImarY PErFormanCE rIghTs Plan

shorT-TErm InCEnTIvE long-TErm InCEnTIvE

–  Salary (cash), compulsory superannuation 
and salary sacrifice.

–  Reviewed annually and effective from 
1 January each year.

–  Compensation in-line with the Senior 
Executive’s role, value and contribution 
to Primary.

–  Based on external benchmarking data 
targeted to be near the median of the 
competitive talent market.

–  Differentiated by a range of individual 
levels based on experience, performance, 
complexity, size and scope of business 
unit and market demands.

–  “At risk” cash payment made on an 
annual basis.

–  Mix of financial and non-financial targets.

–  Linked to key performance indicators 
with metrics including revenue growth, 
EBITDA growth, EBIT growth, operating 
margin and return on capital employed.

–  Linked to Group performance metrics 
such as EPS growth which is assessed 
on an annual basis.

–  Capped at a percentage of the Senior 
Executive’s fixed remuneration. The 
percentage is determined on an 
individual basis.

–  This component of compensation is 
“at risk” and only earned if performance 
metrics are achieved and continued 
service requirements are met over a 
three year period.

–  Performance rights vest over a period of 
three years and restricted for a total of 
three years from the date of the grant.

–  The Board has determined to use 
earnings per share (“EPS”) in increments 
between 5% and 12% as the key measure 
for performance-based long-term 
incentive awards.

Details of Remuneration Paid
The following information discloses the total remuneration of:

 – the 5 most highly remunerated Company and Group executives; and

 –  all other executives who fall within the definition of key management personnel of the Group, being those persons with authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, including the Managing Director (excluding 
Non-executive Directors); and 

 – the division of cash salary, short-term employee benefits and post-employment benefits (superannuation); and

 – prior year comparison. 

Grants made under the PPRP
No grant of an LTI was made to any participant under the PPRP Rules in respect of the year ended 30 June 2011. An STI was granted 
to Senior Executives in respect of the period ended 30 June 2011 and was paid during the year ended 30 June 2012. Details of the 
2011 grant are outlined in the table below on page 16. 

In respect of the LTI and STI for the financial year ended 30 June 2012, Primary’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee will shortly:

 – assess whether eligible participants have met specified performance hurdles for the year ended 30 June 2012; 

 – make a grant, where appropriate, under the PPRP in respect of applicable STI or LTI arrangements; and

 – determine the Group performance hurdles and KPIs applicable to the PPRP in respect of the year ended 30 June 2013.

The tables below show the total remuneration paid to each KMP in the year ended 30 June 2012 and prior year comparison for the year 
ended 30 June 2011.

2012

FIxED rEmunEraTIon
(salarY/FEEs)

shorT-TErm InCEnTIvE 
unDEr PPrr^
(sTI awarDED

For YEar EnDED
30 JunE 2011 anD

PaYaBlE FY12**

long-TErm InCEnTIvE 
unDEr PPrP^
(lTI awarDED

For YEar EnDED
30 JunE 2011 anD
granTED In FY12

PaID From
1 JulY 2011 To 
31 DECEmBEr

2011

PaID From
1 JanuarY

2012 To 
30 JunE 12

PosT
EmPloYmEnT

BEnEFITs
suPEr-

annuaTIon
sTI

awarDED % oF sTI
lTI

awarDED % oF lTI 

ToTal PaID
 For ThE 

YEar EnDED 
30 JunE 2012

managing 
Director

E Bateman* 467,113 742,112 15,775 n/a n/a n/a 1,225,000

senior 
Executives

J Bateman// 242,113 267,112 15,775 120,000 100% 0% 0% 645,000

A Duff// 242,113 267,112 15,775 120,000 100% 0% 0% 645,000

H Bateman// 202,113 242,112 15,775 100,800 100% 0% 0% 560,800

J Frost 183,486 183,486 33,028 96,000 100% 0% 0% 496,000

C Adams 172,113 192,112 15,775 54,000 100% 0% 0% 434,000

Total 1,509,051 1,894,046 111,903 490,800 4,005,800

16



Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012

2011

FIxED rEmunEraTIon
(salarY/FEEs)

shorT-TErm InCEnTIvE unDEr 
PPrP^

(sTI awarDED In rEsPECT 
oF ThE YEar EnDED
30 JunE 2010 anD 
PaYaBlE In FY11)

long-TErm InCEnTIvE unDEr 
PPrP^

(lTI awarDED In rEsPECT 
oF ThE YEar EnDED
30 JunE 2010 anD 
granTED In FY11)

PaID From
1 JulY 2010 To

30 JunE 2011

PosT
EmPloYmEnT

BEnEFITs
suPEr-

annuaTIon
 sTI

awarDED
% oF sTI

awarDED
 lTI

awarDED
% oF lTI

awarDED ToTal

managing  
Director

E Bateman* 934,801 15,199 N/A N/A N/A 950,000

senior  
Executives

J Bateman 484,801 15,199 0 0 0% 0% 500,000

A Duff 484,801 15,199 0 0 0% 0% 500,000

H Bateman 404,801 15,199 0 0 0% 0% 420,000

J Frost 366,973 33,028 0 0 0% 0% 400,000

C Adams 344,801 15,199 0 0 0% 0% 360,000

M Bardsley 319,801 15,775 0 0 0% 0% 335,576

Total 3,340,779 124,798 0 0 0% 0% 3,465,576

notes:

^  PPrP – Primary Performance rights Plan. Short-term incentive based on the achievement of KPIs linked to revenue growth, 
EBITDA growth, EBIT growth, operating margin and return on capital employed. It will be awarded in respect of the year ended 
30 June 2012, during financial year ended 30 June 2013.

**  The STI was granted on 15 October 2011.

* The Managing Director does not participate in the PPRP.

// These executives are not paid a fee for their services as Executive Directors.

Current Key Management Personnel Remuneration Mix
The following table outlines the percentage of at risk remuneration as a component of total remuneration for those key management 
personnel who participate in the Primary Performance Rights Plan (“PPrP”) and those measures upon which recommendations are 
made in relation to STI under the PPRP.

kmP Far sTI lTI aT rIsk PPrP sTI mEasurEs

Dr Edmund Bateman 
Managing Director

100% N/A N/A N/A N/A

Andrew Duff  
Finance Director

62.5% 25% 12.5% 37.5% There are four key performance components 
to the STI for the PPRP which apply in various 
combinations to each KMP:

–  Linked to key performance indicators with 
metrics including revenue growth, EBITDA 
growth, EBIT growth, operating margin and 
return on capital employed.

–  Strategic objectives – performance against 
strategic objectives linked to the KMP’s 
business unit and functional responsibility. 
These objectives may include business unit 
cost targets, market share growth, quality and 
efficiency initiatives, new product development, 
and medical health professional recruitment. 

–  Operating margin – effective implementation 
of measures linked to the Company’s overall 
financial operating margin.

–  Sustainability performance – including 
operational improvement initiatives, 
performance against budgeted capital cost, 
and identifying and managing risk.

James Bateman 
General Manager Pathology

62.5% 25% 12.5% 37.5%

Henry Bateman 
General Manager 
Medical Centres

62.5% 25% 12.5% 37.5%

Carl Adams 
General Manager Imaging

69.9% 17.5% 12.6% 30.1%

John Frost 
CEO – HCN

62.5% 25% 12.5% 37.5%
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Performance Payment Potential for the year ended 30 June 2012
The following table outlines the minimum and maximum performance payment potential for current key management personnel for the 
2012 financial year. Incentive amounts are based on fixed annual remuneration approved by the Board as part of the 2012 remuneration 
review process and the executive remuneration strategy outlined above, as well as the potential total STI and LTI award under the PPRP 
(other than option grants) for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 which may be awarded and granted in the year ended 30 June 2013.

shorT-TErm InCEnTIvE shorT-TErm InCEnTIvE long-TErm InCEnTIvE

PaID as Cash lInkED
To grouP EPs TargET(1) PaID as Cash lInkED To kPIs(2) PErFormanCE rIghTs(3)

managing Director MINIMUM MAXIMUM MINIMUM MAXIMUM MINIMUM MAXIMUM

E Bateman N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

senior Executives

J Bateman $0 $88,000 $0 $132,000 $0 $110,000

A Duff $0 $88,000 $0 $132,000 $0 $110,000

H Bateman $0 $80,000 $0 $120,000 $0 $100,000

J Frost $0 $64,000 $0 $96,000 $0 $80,000

C Adams $0 $40,000 $0 $60,000 $0 $72,000

(1)  The STI paid as cash is based on a whole Group target of EPS between 5% and 12% and will be paid in the financial year 2013 based 
on performance for the year ended 30 June 2012.

(2)  The STI paid as cash is based on the achievement and assessment of personal performance targets and will be paid in the financial 
year 2013 based on performance for the year ended 30 June 2012.

(3)  The maximum value for LTI is based on the methodology in the section ‘Design of long-term incentive (“LTI”) for the year ended 
30 June 2012’.

Risk Alignment
Participants in the PPRP are prohibited from selling, assigning, transferring or otherwise dealing with or granting a security interest over 
any interest in their performance rights or restricted shares. The Company may direct the trustee to make, or procure the making of such 
arrangements it considers necessary to enforce this restriction.

Further restrictions also apply to Directors and KMP when dealing in the Company’s securities under the Policy on Trading by Employees 
and Directors. Further details of this policy are provided in the Corporate Governance Statement on page 25 of this Annual Report. 

B. Non-executive Director Remuneration

Board policy on Non-executive Director Remuneration
The remuneration of all individuals who are Non-executive Directors of the Company for their ordinary services as Directors of either 
the Company or any of its subsidiary entities is subject to the aggregate limit of A$1,400,000 for any calendar year set by shareholders 
at the 2008 General Meeting. This limit takes account of the level of fees paid to Directors of other Australian entities of similar size and 
complexity, as well as the responsibilities and work requirements of Board members. 

Board fees are paid to Non-executive Directors only. Fees are not linked to the performance of Primary so that independence and impartiality 
is maintained. Superannuation contributions are made at a rate of 9%, which satisfies Primary’s statutory superannuation obligations. 

In addition to Board and Committee fees, Non-executive Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for all reasonable travel, 
accommodation and other expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board, Committees or shareholders or while engaged on 
Primary business.

Non-executive Directors do not accrue separate retirement benefits in addition to statutory superannuation entitlements. 

There is no share plan or other equity participation for Primary’s Non-executive Directors.

The table below outlines the total fees paid to the Company’s Non-executive Directors for the year ended 30 June 2012 and a prior year 
comparison. 

2012 gross salarY
auDIT

 CommITTEE FEEs
suPEr

ConTrIBuTIons ToTal

Robert Ferguson1 209,225 – 15,775 225,000

Brian Ball 91,124 7,500 8,876 107,500

John Crawford 91,743 – 8,257 100,000

Errol Katz 91,743 – 8,257 100,000

Paul Jones 91,743 – 8,257 100,000

Terence Smith 91,743 – 8,257 100,000

Total 667,321 7,500 57,679 732,500
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2011 gross salarY
auDIT

 CommITTEE FEEs
suPEr

ConTrIBuTIons ToTal

Robert Ferguson1 209,801 – 15,199 225,000

Brian Ball 100,000 7,500 – 107,500

John Crawford 95,500 – 4,500 100,000

Michael Christie 38,230 – 3,440 41,670

Stephen Higgs 38,230 – 3,440 41,670

Errol Katz 54,560 – 4,910 59,470

Paul Jones 54,560 – 4,910 59,470

Terence Smith 91,743 – 8,257 100,000

Total 682,624 7,500 44,656 734,780

1 Mr Ferguson’s remuneration is a fixed fee inclusive of fees for his role as Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Indemnification of officers and auditors
During the year, Primary paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors and Executive Officers of Primary and of any 
related body corporate, against liability incurred that is permitted to be covered by section 199B of the Corporations Act 2001. It is a 
condition of the insurance contract that its limits of indemnity, the nature of the liability indemnified, and the amount of the premium 
not be disclosed.

The Constitution of Primary provides that each officer of Primary must be indemnified by Primary against any liability incurred by 
that person in that capacity. However, Primary must not indemnify that person if to do so would be prohibited by section 199A of the 
Corporations Act 2001, any other statutory provision, or judge-made law.

Company strategy and performance
Primary’s medical centre management business was formally established in 1985 with one medical centre and Primary has been listed 
on the ASX since 1998. Primary has since grown to become Australia’s largest medical centre operator with a network of Australia-wide 
large-scale medical centres. The Group now also delivers a broad range of pathology and diagnostic services and is a leading provider of 
health technology services to medical practitioners. 

The table below demonstrates the performance of the Group over the five years ended 30 June 2012. 

YEar EnDED 30 JunE 

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of 
Primary Health Care Ltd ($000) 116,615 78,285 131,997 108,502 7,862 

Share price at end of year ($) 2.95 3.43 3.56 5.25 5.20

Interim dividend (cents per share) 5.0 3.0 15.0 7.0 22.0

Final dividend (cents per share) 6.0 5.0 10.0 7.0 5.0

Basic Earnings Per Share (cents) 23.3 15.8 27.8 28.7 3.2

notes:

 – All dividends are franked to 100% at 30% corporate income tax rate.

 – Final dividends were declared after the balance date and were therefore paid in the following financial year.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

Edmund Bateman – Director 
Sydney 

25 September 2012
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The following description of the governance arrangements of Primary Health Care Limited (“Primary”) for the year ended 30 June 2012 
addresses those principles set out in the 2nd edition of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, including 2010 
amendments.

Copies of Primary’s charters and polices are available at Primary’s website at www.primaryhealthcare.com.au in the Investors’ Section 
under “Corporate Governance”.

The following table is a summary of the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations and Primary’s compliance with 
these guidelines.

rECommEnDaTIon
ComPlIanCE

YEs/no

1.1 Companies should establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior 
executives and disclose those functions.

Yes

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior executives. Yes

1.3 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 1 Yes

2.1 A majority of the Board should be independent Directors. Yes 

2.2 The chair should be an independent Director. Yes

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised by the same individual. Yes

2.4 The Board should establish a nomination committee. Yes

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the Board, its committees and 
individual Directors.

Yes

2.6 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 2. Yes

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary of the code as to: 
– the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity;
–  the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations 

of their stakeholders; and
–  the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of 

unethical practices.

Yes
 

 Yes
 
 Yes

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a summary of that 
policy. The policy should include requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for achieving 
gender diversity for the board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them.

Yes

3.3 Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity set by the board in accordance with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them.

Yes

3.4 Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the board.

Yes

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 3. Yes

4.1 The Board should establish an audit committee. Yes

4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it:
–  consists of only Non-executive Directors:
–  consists of a majority of independent Directors;
–  is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the Board; and
– has at least three members.

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. Yes

4.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4. Yes

5.1 Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a summary of those policies.

Yes

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 5. Yes

6.1 Companies should design a communication policy for promoting effective communication with 
shareholders and encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a 
summary of that policy.

Yes

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 6. Yes

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management of material business risks and 
disclose a summary of those policies.

Yes

7.2 The Board should require management to design and implement the risk management and internal 
control system to manage the Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those risks 
are being managed effectively. The Board should disclose that management has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material business risks. 

Yes

7.3 The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial Officer that the declaration provided in accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations 
Act is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is 
operating effectively in all material respects in relation to reporting risks. 

Yes

7.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 7. Yes
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rECommEnDaTIon
ComPlIanCE

YEs/no

8.1 The Company should establish a remuneration committee. Yes

8.2 The remunerations committee should be structured so that it: 
– consists of a majority of independent Directors;
– is chaired by an independent chair; and
– has at least three members.

Yes
Yes
Yes

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of Non-executive Directors’ remuneration from that 
of Directors and senior executives. 

Yes

8.4 Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8. Yes

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 
The Board has adopted a formal Board Charter which outlines the Board’s role and responsibilities, including its relationship with 
management, in line with good corporate governance principles. 

Under the Charter, the Board is responsible for:

 –  representing and serving the interests of shareholders by overseeing and appraising the strategies, policies and performance of Primary;

 –  overseeing the financial and human resources which Primary has in place to meet its business objectives and for reviewing the 
performance of management;

 – protecting and optimising Group performance and building sustainable value for shareholders;

 – monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the occupational health, safety and environment practices of Primary; and 

 – ensuring that shareholders are kept informed of the Group’s performance and major developments affecting its state of affairs.

In carrying out its responsibilities and functions, the Board may delegate any of its powers to a Board committee, a Director, employee 
or other person. However, the Board acknowledges that it retains ultimate responsibility for the exercise of such powers under the 
Corporations Act 2001.

The Board has guidelines for its Directors to address potential conflicts of interest, including a requirement that they declare their 
interests as required by the Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Listing Rules. 

Board Functions
General functions of the Board include:

 –  selecting, appointing and evaluating the performance of the Managing Director and determining the remuneration and succession 
planning associated with that position;

 –  reviewing the procedures for appointing, selecting and monitoring the performance of Senior Executives and succession planning 
associated with those roles;

 – reviewing and approving Senior Executive’s development of corporate strategy and performance objectives; 

 –  oversight and approval of major capital expenditure, capital management, acquisitions and divestments, to ensure the integrity of 
financial and other reporting;

 – monitoring corporate performance and determining dividends; 

 – approving major business initiatives within the Primary Group, and providing advice and guidance to senior management;

 – approving the delegation of powers to the CEO and senior management; and

 – approving, overseeing and monitoring the Primary Group’s governance model.

A copy of the Board Charter is available on Primary’s website at www.primaryhealthcare.com.au in the Investors Section under 
“Corporate Governance”. 

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value 
The skills and experience of each Director on Primary’s Board during the year ended 30 June 2012 are included in the Directors’ Report. 
Primary’s Constitution provides for a minimum of three Directors. As at the date of this Report the Board comprises six independent 
Non-executive Directors and four Executive Directors. 

The Board normally holds 12 formal Board meetings each year and will also meet wherever necessary to carry out its responsibilities. 
During those meetings, Directors request any relevant information, raise and discuss issues which are of concern to them and vote on 
any resolution based on their own judgement. Directors are required to maintain confidentiality, with the exception of decisions which 
require public disclosure. 

Directors’ independence
The size, composition and independence of Primary’s Board is determined pursuant to the Board Charter, Primary’s Constitution and the 
ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. The Board recognises that independent Directors are important in assuring 
shareholders that the Board is properly able to exercise independent judgement when meeting its responsibilities under the Charter. 
In determining whether a Director is independent of management and generally free from any interest and any business or other 
relationship that could be perceived to materially interfere with the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of Primary, the Board 
considers whether the Director:
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 – is a Non-executive Director (that is, is not a member of management); and

 –  is not a substantial shareholder (that is, a person who has a substantial holding as defined by s 9 of the Corporations Act 2001) 
of Primary or an Officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial shareholder of Primary; and

 – within the last three years, has not been employed in an executive capacity by Primary or another entity in the Primary Group; and

 –  within the last three years, has not been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to Primary or another 
entity in the Primary Group, or an employee of such an adviser or consultant and materially associated with the service provided; and

 –  is not a material supplier to, or material customer of, Primary or another entity in the Primary Group, or an Officer of, or otherwise 
associated directly or indirectly with, such a supplier or customer; and

 –  has no material contractual relationship with Primary, or another entity in the Primary Group, other than as a Director of Primary.

Having considered the various positions and relationships of each of the Non-executive Directors, and in light of the definition of 
independence and assessment procedures discussed below, the Board considers all current Non-executive Directors, including the 
Chairman, to meet the definition of independence as prescribed in the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations. 

The Board has a range of measures in place to ensure that independent judgement is maintained throughout decision-making processes 
where such judgement is required. Under the Company’s Constitution, a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter 
that is being considered at a meeting of Directors must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting or vote on 
the matter. A Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that relates to the affairs of the Company must give the other 
Directors notice of the interest unless otherwise exempted under the Constitution (in situations where the interest arises merely in 
connection with the Director’s ordinary obligations, duties and powers).

During the financial year, there were no circumstances in which individual Directors found it necessary to excuse themselves from 
consideration by the Board of specific matters because of the potential for independence to be compromised. 

Matters concerning the remuneration of the Company’s KMP, some of whom are also Executive Directors, are considered and reviewed 
by the Company’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee, which is comprised wholly of Non-executive Directors, under delegation 
of the Board.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board about the:

 – evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committees and Directors;

 – appointment, re-election and succession of Directors;

 – remuneration, recruitment, retention and termination policies and procedures for Group Senior Executives; and

 – superannuation arrangements.

The composition of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is reviewed on an annual basis by the Board. The Committee must 
comprise at least three Non-executive Directors and be chaired by, and comprise a majority of, independent Directors. 

For the year ended 30 June 2012, members of the Committee were:

 – Mr Rob Ferguson (Chairman)

 – Mr Brian Ball

 – Mr John Crawford

 – Mr Terence Smith (until 12 June 2012)

 – Dr Errol Katz (from 1 January 2012)

A copy of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee Charter is available on Primary’s website at www.primaryhealthcare.com.au 
in the Investors’ Section under “Corporate Governance”. 

Board Selection and Membership
As part of its role in relation to the nomination of Directors, the Board devises criteria for Board membership. The key criteria for the 
selection of suitable candidates is their capacity to contribute to the ongoing development of the Primary Group, having regard to 
the Primary Group’s business, the candidate’s experience and the attributes of existing Board members. Where a vacancy exists on 
the Board, or where it is considered that the Board would benefit from the services of a new Director with particular skills, suitable 
candidates are proposed for consideration. Where appropriate, the services of external consultants are also engaged.

The Board also considers that its membership should comprise Directors with a broad range of skills, expertise and experience from a 
diverse range of backgrounds. The names, skills, experience, expertise and appointment dates of the current Directors of Primary are set 
out on pages 7 to 9 of this Report.

The Board participates in a confidential, annual evaluation process, involving both self and peer assessment. The evaluation is a useful 
tool for examining the role, composition, administration and effectiveness of the Board and its committees. Evaluation information is 
used to build a skills matrix which outlines key issues in relation to Directors’ experience, knowledge and demographic details for the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee to identify gaps when planning for Board succession. 

The Board is also responsible for evaluating the performance of the Managing Director and for monitoring and evaluating the 
performance of Senior Executives on an annual basis. 
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Board Induction
All new Board members participate in an induction program individually designed to assist them to understand the Group’s operations. 
The induction is coordinated by the Company Secretary and includes meetings with key management across all business divisions, 
visits and practical demonstrations at various sites, information about the Group’s history, operations, key stakeholders and corporate 
governance protocols.

Advice and Support
The Board periodically reviews the independence of each Director in light of the interests disclosed to the Board and has procedures for 
potential conflicts to be raised.

With the prior approval of the Chairman, each Director has the right to seek independent legal and other professional advice, at Primary’s 
expense, concerning any aspect of Primary’s operations or undertakings, in order to fulfil their duties and responsibilities as Directors. 

The Company Secretary also plays an important role in supporting Board members by monitoring adherence to policies and procedures 
and by providing briefing material for the Board’s consideration at Board meetings. This information includes regular reports from the 
Group’s Senior Executives to ensure that the Board can discharge its duties effectively.

A copy of the Board Charter is available on Primary’s website at www.primaryhealthcare.com.au in the Investors Section under 
“Corporate Governance”. 

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

Code of Conduct
Primary’s Code of Conduct promotes ethical and responsible decision-making throughout the Group. Application of the Code of Conduct 
is supported through a range of policies and management practices. It encompasses guidance to manage: compliance with law and 
regulations; corporate integrity and social responsibility; conflicts of interest; the maintenance of information privacy and confidentiality; 
inside information; improper benefits; misappropriation; and workplace conduct. Issues believed to amount to a breach of the Code are 
to be reported for investigation to those Senior Executives identified in the Code.

Diversity
Primary’s Diversity Policy adopts the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations published on 30 June 2010, which 
require the Boards of ASX-listed entities to approve, monitor and report on diversity at all levels, including Board level, particularly in 
relation to gender diversity. The Diversity Policy applies to all Directors, employees and contractors of the Primary Group.

Primary recognises the importance of a diverse and inclusive workplace in which all individuals, with a broad range of backgrounds, 
skills, experience and perspectives can contribute to the success of Primary’s operations. 

The Board’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board in relation to:

(a) initiatives to support and encourage diversity throughout Primary;

(b)  objectives for addressing gender diversity, particularly at Board level, including selection, performance evaluation and succession 
planning processes; and

(c) annual assessment of the effectiveness of measurable objectives.

When identifying candidates for vacancies on Primary’s Board of Directors, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee ensures that 
internal and external assessments of potential candidates includes a search for suitably qualified and experienced women. At least one 
woman forms part of the interview and selection panel for Board appointments to promote equality and gender diversity. 

Primary’s Board of Directors is responsible for:

(a) establishing and monitoring the Primary Group’s overall diversity strategy and policy;

(b)  setting and reviewing measurable objectives for specifically addressing gender diversity following recommendations by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

The General Manager, People and Governance is responsible for:

(a)  developing, reviewing and maintaining human resource policies and procedures in accordance with the Diversity Policy and, where 
relevant, in line with measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity; and

(b)  preparing and reporting to the Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency and public reporting program, and providing 
those findings to the Board for its consideration.

When developing and implementing recruitment and selection processes for employees and contractors, Primary will ensure that 
all candidates are considered and selected on the basis of individual skills, experience and merit, in line with all equal opportunity 
and anti-discrimination legislation. Primary has a Code of Conduct which promotes respect for others, integrity and fairness in the 
workplace. All Directors, employees and contractors must adhere to those principles within the framework of the Code of Conduct.
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A number of measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity were set by the Board for 2011-2012. 

2012 mEasuraBlE oBJECTIvEs rEsPonsIBIlITY BY 30 JunE 2012

1 Establish a Diversity Committee with executive management appointee Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

 Complete

2 Update Primary Group recruitment policies and procedures 
to reflect the Diversity Policy

Human Resource Managers
 Complete

3 Develop a succession plan which aims to increase the representation 
of women on the Board, subject to the identification of candidates 
with appropriate skills, qualifications and experience

Nomination and
Remuneration Committee  Complete

4 Develop programs to identify women with management potential  
and implement programs to enhance their skills and experience as  
a pipeline for future senior/manager and executive roles

General Manager People
and Governance with

Human Resource Managers
 Ongoing

The year ended 30 June 2012 marked several achievements in the support of gender diversity initiatives within Primary, including:

 –  an extensive recruitment and selection search for an appropriately skilled and experienced female Director, and the appointment of a 
female Director on 31 August 2012;

 – the establishment of improved human resource capabilities across the Group to manage a diverse workforce; and

 –  greater selection and participation of women in senior managerial roles as a result of management restructures within various 
business divisions.

Primary’s workforce remains characterised by a high rate of female participation at all levels of the Company’s operations. 

2013 mEasuraBlE oBJECTIvEs rEsPonsIBIlITY sTaTus

1 Ensure ongoing succession planning which aims to increase the 
representation of women on the Board, subject to the identification 
of candidates with appropriate skills, qualifications and experience.

Nomination and
Remuneration Committee Ongoing 

2 Develop programs to identify women with management potential 
and implement programs to enhance their skills and experience 
as a pipeline for future senior/manager and executive roles.

General Manager People and
Governance with Human

Resources Managers
Ongoing 

3 Develop a Primary Women in Leadership Program targeting the 
retention of existing women leaders

General Manager People and
Governance

30 June 2013

Each year, Primary participates in the Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency (“Eowa”) public reporting program. 
Those reports indicate that Primary comprises a diverse range of employees and contractors and is represented by a high number of 
women across the Medical Centres, Pathology and Imaging business divisions. Women comprise 79% of Primary’s full-time, part-time 
and casual employees. The proportion of women employees throughout the Group, including Senior Executive positions and women  
on the Board is outlined below. 

PrImarY hEalTh CarE lImITED workPlaCE gEnDEr ProFIlE as aT 30 JunE 2012

oCCuPaTIonal CaTEgorY
% oF Full-TImE

womEn
% oF ParT-TImE

womEn
% oF Casual

womEn
% oF ToTal

EmPloYEEs womEn

Directors 0(*) N/A N/A 0

Executive Managers 27 N/A N/A 27

Senior Managers 42 100 N/A 45

Managers 51 90 N/A 53

IT Support 49 75 N/A 50

Senior Health Professionals 22 55 35 36

Scientists 69 85 73 74

Lab Assistants/Technicians 72 80 75 76

Radiology/Ophthalmology Technicians 57 83 65 67

Nursing/Pathology Collectors 91 95 87 92

Dental Nurses 93 100 92 93

Admin & Clerical 81 96 92 89

Couriers 38 49 32 42

Ancillary 56 100 67 67

note: 

* Post 30 June 2012, females comprise 10% of the total number of Directors on Primary’s Board.

A copy of the Diversity Policy is available on Primary’s website at www.primaryhealthcare.com.au in the Investors’ Section under 
“Corporate Governance”. The Policy adopts the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and recommendations published on 30 June 2012 
which require Boards of ASX listed entities to approve, monitor and report on diversity at all levels, including Board level and particularly 
in relation to gender diversity.
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Policy on Trading in Primary Securities by Employees and Directors
Primary recognises the importance of establishing and maintaining appropriate compliance standards and procedures to ensure that 
public confidence in Primary’s market integrity is maintained. In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 12.9, Primary’s Board adopted a 
revised Policy on Trading in Primary Securities by Employees and Directors. The Policy is effective from 1 January 2011. It sets out the 
restrictions and procedures in relation to dealing in any type of Primary securities by employees and Directors, including the prohibition 
on trading during defined closed periods. The Policy also summarises the law in relation to insider trading. 

A copy of the Policy on Trading in Primary Securities by Employees and Directors is available on Primary’s website at  
www.primaryhealthcare.com.au in the Investors’ Section under “Corporate Governance”.

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Primary has systems of independent review and authorisation to ensure the integrity of its financial reporting. During the year ended 
30 June 2012, Primary formally adopted a new Audit Committee Charter.

The Audit Committee is a committee of the Board. The Committee is appointed and authorised by the Board to assist the Board in 
fulfilling its statutory and fiduciary responsibilities. The Committee’s primary role is to assist the Board in relation to the reporting 
of financial information, the appropriate application and amendment of accounting policies, the appointment, independence and 
remuneration of the external auditor and to provide a link between the external auditors, the Board, and management of the Company.

The Audit Committee is comprised of at least three Non-executive Directors all of whom must be independent and an independent Chair 
who is not Chairman of the Board.

At least one member of the Committee should have relevant qualifications and experience (that is, should be a qualified accountant or 
other finance professional with experience of financial and accounting matters).

The Committee’s duties and responsibilities include:

 –  reviewing the Company’s financial reporting and disclosure processes, and ensuring the reliability and integrity of the Company’s 
financial reporting and accounting policies;

 –  assessing whether the Company’s external reporting is consistent with Committee members’ information and knowledge and is 
adequate for shareholder needs;

 – assessing the adequacy of the management processes supporting external reporting;

 –  developing and implementing procedures for the selection and appointment of the external auditor and for the rotation of external 
audit engagement partners;

 –  reviewing the performance and independence of the external auditor, including recommending for the appointment, or, if necessary, 
the removal of the external auditor;

 –  recommending to the Board in relation to the appointment, compensation, the terms of engagement and other contractual terms of 
the external auditor; and

 – assessing the performance and objectivity of the internal audit function. 

Details of the qualifications of the members of the Committee are set out on pages 7 to 9 of this Report. Details of the number of 
Committee meetings held during the year and members’ attendance at those meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report on page 5  
of this Report. 

The members of the Audit Committee for the year ended 30 June 2012 were: 

 – Mr B Ball (Chairman);

 – Mr R Ferguson; 

 – Mr J Crawford; and

 – Dr Paul Jones (from 1 January 2012).

The Audit Committee invites the Chief Financial Officer and the external auditor to attend Audit Committee meetings. Other individuals 
(such as the Managing Director) may, by invitation, also attend meetings of the Audit Committee. Additionally, the Audit Committee 
meets with and receives reports from the external auditor concerning any matters arising in connection with the performance of its role, 
including the adequacy of internal controls. The external auditor has been appointed since Primary listed in 1998. Continued appointment 
is subject to periodic review. The Lead External Audit Engagement Partner is required to rotate at least once every five years.

A copy of the Audit Committee Charter is available on Primary’s website at www.primaryhealthcare.com.au in the Investors Section 
under “Corporate Governance”.

Declaration of the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer
The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer provide the Board with written confirmation that:

 –  the financial reports present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of Primary’s financial condition and operational results and 
are in accordance with relevant accounting standards;

 –  this statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which implements the policies 
adopted by the Board; and

 –  Primary’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation 
to financial reporting risks.

The Board has received the above declaration from the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer for this year.
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Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure
Primary has put mechanisms in place to ensure the provision of timely, balanced and accurate disclosure of material information to 
the market in order to comply with the continuous disclosure obligations under the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Securities 
Exchange (“asx”) Listing Rules. All investors have equal and timely access to material information. This includes the provision of 
information about Primary’s financial situation, performance, ownership and corporate governance. Primary ensures that shareholders, 
regulators, ratings agencies and the general investment community have equal and timely access to material information concerning 
Primary, including its:

 – annual and interim profit announcements;

 – release of financial reports; and

 – investor presentations and briefings.

Primary’s Board has established procedures designed to ensure compliance with Primary’s continuous disclosure obligations under the 
ASX Listing Rules. The identification and monitoring of matters which may require disclosure in accordance with Primary’s continuous 
disclosure obligations occurs on a regular basis at meetings attended by Senior Executive. If a matter is identified as potentially requiring 
disclosure it is immediately referred to the Board by the Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary. 

Company announcements are lodged on both the ASX Company Announcements Platform and Primary’s website. Investors can elect 
to receive key announcements via a link on the website. In addition to recent announcements, Primary’s website contains key dates for 
results releases and shareholder meetings, annual reports, presentations and corporate governance polices. 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of shareholders
Primary’s shareholder communication strategy has been developed to provide shareholders with accurate, relevant and timely 
information to enable them to exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner and to provide potential investors and other 
interested stakeholders equal and timely access to information about Primary. 

Primary provides a website that includes copies of all information lodged with the ASX as well as other Group information. Shareholders 
are encouraged to log onto Primary’s website to register to receive relevant announcements. In addition, investor briefings and the 
Annual General Meeting (“agm”) provide an open forum for the Board to engage in direct dialogue with Primary’s shareholders and is 
an opportunity for shareholders to express views, ask questions and respond to Board proposals.

Primary arranges advance notification of shareholder briefings via its investor database and its website. Teleconference arrangements 
are available for investors to dial-in to group briefings and participate in question and answer sessions. Primary keeps a summary record 
for internal use of the issues discussed at group briefings with investors, including a record of those present and the time and place of 
the meeting.

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
The Board is responsible for overseeing the implementation of an effective system of risk management and internal control. The 
responsibility for designing, implementing and maintaining Primary’s system of risk management and internal control has been 
delegated to the Risk Committee. The Risk Committee assists the Board with its oversight responsibility be reviewing, assessing and 
making recommendations to the Board in relation to the risk management framework and internal control structures put in place by 
management. The risk identification, analysis , treatment and monitoring process implemented by Primary are in accordance with 
Standards Australia AS/NSZ ISO 31000: 2009. 

Management reports to the Risk Committee on Primary’s key risks and the status of risk mitigation activities on a quarterly basis. 

Risk management
The Risk Committee is a committee of the Board. The Committee is appointed and authorised by the Board to assist the Board in fulfilling 
its statutory and financial responsibilities.

Each member of the Committee is appointed by the Board. The Committee comprises at least three Directors and its composition is 
reviewed by the Board on an annual basis.

The members of the Risk Committee for the year ended 30 June 2012 were: 

 – Dr E Katz (Chairman);

 – Mr J Bateman; 

 – Mr A Duff; 

 – Dr P Jones; and

 – Mr H Bateman

The Committee’s primary role is to assist the Board in the effective identification and management of the Company’s material business risks.

The Committee has the following duties and responsibilities:

(a)  ensure that the Company Group has identified and regularly updates the profile of each of the Company Group’s material business 
risks (excluding financial reporting risks);

(b) monitor any anticipated changes to the Company’s Group’s material business risks;

(c) monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the implementation of the risk management system;

(d)  reports and provides recommendations to the Board (or the Chief executive Officer and/or Chief Financial Officer) as and when 
requested by such an officer in relation to proposed financial certifications on whether the risk management system is sound and 
being managed and implemented effectively; and

(e)  review and approve key policies as required in each business division of the Company, relating to the implementation of the risk 
management system. 
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The Committee has the authority to seek at any time any information the Committee considers may be relevant to its functions from 
any officer or employee of the Company Group. Such officers or employees must be instructed by the board of the entity employing 
them to fully cooperate in the provision of such information. The Committee also has authority to conduct or direct any investigation it 
considers necessary. 

The Group’s operations are highly regulated and subject to a range of State and Commonwealth legislation and accreditation 
requirements. Each of the various Pathology, Medical Centres, Imaging and Health Technology divisions operate under a range of 
policies which provide guidance in relation to identifying and responding to risk. An incident notification and response procedure 
is in place throughout the Group. Implementation of these policies is ultimately overseen by Senior Executives within each division. 
A comprehensive Group insurance program is in place and this is reviewed on an annual basis.

Within the risk management framework, each business unit is required to formally consider its risk environment and create a register 
of identified risks, controls and a risk treatment plan which are stored in a risk information management system. 

Occupational Health, Safety & Environment (OHS&E) 
The Board is responsible for:

 – monitoring and reviewing all aspects of OHS risks that are relevant to the Group’s operations;

 – reviewing all significant OHS policies; 

 – ensuring adequate procedures are in place to support the Group’s OHS policies;

 – monitoring compliance with the Group’s policies and procedures and overseeing incident investigations; 

 – receiving and monitoring reports from management regarding the adequacy of performance and compliance; and

 – reviewing major initiatives, developments and long-term strategies in the health, safety and environment area. 

Further information about Primary’s management of risks to safety is provided in the Directors’ Report on page 10.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board about the:

 – evaluation of the performance of the Board, its committees and Directors;

 – appointment, re-election and succession of Directors;

 – remuneration, recruitment, retention and termination policies and procedures for Group Senior Executives; and

 – superannuation arrangements.

The composition of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is reviewed on an annual basis by the Board. The Committee must 
comprise at least three Non-executive Directors and be chaired by, and comprise a majority of, independent Directors. 

For the year ended 30 June 2012, members of the Committee were:

 – Mr Rob Ferguson (Chairman)

 – Mr Brian Ball

 – Mr John Crawford

 – Mr Terence Smith (until 12 June 2012)

 – Dr Errol Katz (from 1 January 2012)

In order to retain and attract executives of sufficient calibre to facilitate the efficient and effective management of Primary’s operations, 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee seeks the advice of independent external advisers in connection with the structure of 
remuneration packages, where appropriate.

The Board’s Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board in relation to:

(a) initiatives to support and encourage diversity throughout Primary;

(b)  objectives for addressing gender diversity, particularly at Board level, including selection, performance evaluation and succession 
planning processes; and

(c) annual assessment of the effectiveness of measurable objectives.

A copy of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee Charter is available on Primary’s website at www.primaryhealthcare.com.au in 
the Investors section under “Corporate Governance”. 

Particulars concerning Directors’ and Senior Executives’ remuneration are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 11 to 19 of this Report.
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Auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2012

The Board of Directors
Primary Health Care Limited
30-38 Short Street
LEICHHARDT NSW 2040 

 

25 September 2012

Primary health Care limited

Dear Board Members

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the 
directors of Primary Health Care Limited.

As lead audit partner for the review of the financial statements of Primary Health Care Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2012, 
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

 (i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the review; and

 (ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the review. 

Yours sincerely

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Helen Hamilton-James
Partner 
Chartered Accountants

Parramatta, 25 September 2012

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

The Barrington
Level 10
10 Smith Street
Parramatta  NSW  2150
PO Box 38
Parramatta NSW 2124 Australia

DX: 28485
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9840 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 2 9840 7001
www.deloitte.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Primary Health Care Limited

InDEPEnDEnT auDITor’s rEPorT 
To ThE mEmBErs oF PrImarY hEalTh CarE lImITED

Report on the Financial Report 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Primary Health Care Limited, which comprises the statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2012, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for 
the year ended on that date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the 
directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity, comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to 
time during the financial year as set out on pages 31 to 70. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, 
that the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the 
company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that the 
independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of Primary Health Care Limited, 
would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN:  74 490 121 060

The Barrington
Level 10
10 Smith Street
Parramatta  NSW  2150
PO Box 38
Parramatta NSW 2124 Australia

DX 28485
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9840 7000
Fax:  +61 (0) 2 9840 7001
www.deloitte.com.au
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Primary Health Care Limited

Opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of Primary Health Care Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of their performance for the year 
ended on that date; and

 (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

Report on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in Pages 11 to 19 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2012. 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our 
audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Opinion
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Primary Health Care Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, complies with section 300A 
of the Corporations Act 2001. 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Helen Hamilton-James
Partner
Chartered Accountants

Parramatta, 25 September 2012
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Directors’ declaration

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Primary Health Care Limited (“Primary”) the Directors declare that:

 (a)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that Primary will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable;

 (b)  the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with 
accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of Primary and the Group; 

 (c)  the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board; and

 (d)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that Primary and the controlled entities identified in note 30 will be able to meet any 
obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject to by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee between Primary 
and those controlled entities pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418.

2.  The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors.

Edmund Bateman 
Director

25 September 2012
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Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2012

ConsolIDaTED

noTE
2012
$000

2011
$000

Revenue 3 1,392,067 1,322,094

Share of net profits of associates accounted for using the equity method – 202

Employee benefits expense 4 588,035 572,149

Property expenses 5 167,863 158,430

Consumables 135,614 133,517

Other expenses 149,496 130,249

EBITDa 351,059 327,951

Depreciation 11 62,191 60,968

Amortisation 13 23,675 21,228

EBIT 265,193 245,755

Interest expense 82,049 87,875

Amortisation of borrowing costs 14,709 9,210

Non-recurring items 6 – 34,700

Profit before tax 168,435 113,970

Income tax expense 8(a) 49,493 34,207

Profit for the year 118,942 79,763

Attributable to:

Equity holders of Primary Health Care Limited 22 116,615 78,285

Non-controlling interest 2,327 1,478

Profit for the year 118,942 79,763

EarnIngs PEr sharE (ConsolIDaTED) noTE

2012
CEnTs PEr

sharE

2011
CEnTs PEr

sharE

Basic and diluted earnings per share 22 23.3 15.8
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2012

ConsolIDaTED 

2012
$000

2011
$000

Profit for the year 118,942 79,763

other comprehensive income

 Fair value (loss) on cash flow hedges (21,099) –

 Fair value gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments 2,403 (1,919)

 Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations 1,406 (699)

 Income tax benefit relating to components of other comprehensive income 5,609 576

other comprehensive (loss) for the year (11,681) (2,042)

Total comprehensive income for the year 107,261 77,721

Attributable to:

Equity holders of Primary Health Care Limited 104,934 76,243

Non-controlling interest 2,327 1,478

107,261 77,721
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Balance sheet as at 30 June 2012

ConsolIDaTED

noTE
2012
$000

2011
$000

Current assets

Cash 32(a) 10,432 43,252

Receivables 10(a) 158,645 156,701

Consumables 26,075 25,611

Other financial assets 14(a) 4,574 798

Income tax receivable 8(c) 1,301 –

Total current assets 201,027 226,362

non-current assets

Receivables 10(b) 2,853 1,957

Property, plant and equipment 11 405,136 397,880

Goodwill 12 3,138,713 3,081,598

Other intangible assets 13 94,023 82,372

Other financial assets 14(b) 1,346 1,168

Deferred tax asset 8(b) 18,849 34,317

Total non-current assets 3,660,920 3,599,292

Total assets 3,861,947 3,825,654

Current liabilities

Payables 15(a) 119,807 122,503

Tax liabilities 8(d) – 2,220

Provisions 16(a) 61,642 66,828

Other financial liabilities 17 10,966 –

Interest bearing liabilities 19(a) 3,804 3,754

Total current liabilities 196,219 195,305

non-current liabilities

Payables 15(b) 4,873 4,258

Provisions 16(b) 5,618 7,871

Other financial liabilities 17 10,296 –

Interest bearing liabilities 19(b) 1,071,828 1,113,831

Total non-current liabilities 1,092,615 1,125,960

Total liabilities 1,288,834 1,321,265

net assets 2,573,113 2,504,389

Equity

Issued capital 21 2,349,364 2,337,758

Reserves 23 (3,529) 7,380

Retained earnings 24 221,951 154,251

Equity attributable to equity holders 2,567,786 2,499,389

Non-controlling interest 25 5,327 5,000

Total equity 2,573,113 2,504,389
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2012

ConsolIDaTED

IssuED
CaPITal

$000

avaIlaBlE
For salE

rEval-
uaTIon

rEsErvE
$000

Cash
Flow

hEDgE
rEsErvE 

$000

ForEIgn
CurrEnCY

Tran-
slaTIon
rEsErvE

$000

sharE
-BasED

PaYmEnTs
rEsErvE

$000

rETaInED
EarnIngs

$000

aTTrIBuT-
aBlE

To ownErs
oF ThE

ParEnT
$000

non-
ConTrol-

lIng
InTErEsT

$000
ToTal

$000

Balance at 
1 July 2011 2,337,758 (1,072) – (360) 8,812 154,251 2,499,389 5,000 2,504,389

Profit for the year – – – – – 116,615 116,615 2,327 118,942

Exchange differences 
arising on 
translation of  
foreign operations – – – 1,406 – – 1,406 – 1,406

Fair value gain on 
available for sale 
investments – 2,403 – – – – 2,403 – 2,403

Fair value (loss) on 
cash flow hedges – – (21,099) – – – (21,099) – (21,099)

Income tax relating 
to components of 
other comprehensive 
income – (721) 6,330 – – – 5,609 – 5,609

Total comprehensive 
income – 1,682 (14,769) 1,406 – 116,615 104,934 2,327 107,261

Payment of 
dividends – – – – – (48,915) (48,915) (2,000) (50,915)

Share-based 
payment – – – – 884 – 884 – 884

Movement in share 
capital (Note 21) 11,606 – – – (112) – 11,494 – 11,494

Balance at 
30 June 2012 2,349,364 610 (14,769) 1,046 9,584 221,951 2,567,786 5,327 2,573,113

Balance at  
1 July 2010 2,318,578 271 – 339 7,760 138,867 2,465,815 4,422 2,470,237

Profit for the year – – – – – 78,285 78,285 1,478 79,763

Exchange differences 
arising on 
translation of foreign 
operations – – – (699) – – (699) – (699)

Fair value (loss) on 
available for sale 
investments – (1,919) – – – – (1,919) – (1,919)

Income tax relating 
to components of 
other comprehensive 
income – 576 – – – – 576 – 576

Total comprehensive 
income – (1,343) – (699) – 78,285 76,243 1,478 77,721

Payment of 
dividends – – – – – (62,901) (62,901) (900) (63,801)

Share-based 
payment – – – – 1,288 – 1,288 – 1,288

Movement in share 
capital (Note 21) 19,180 – – – (236) – 18,944 – 18,944

Balance at 
30 June 2011 2,337,758 (1,072) – (360) 8,812 154,251 2,499,389 5,000 2,504,389

35 Primary Health Care Ltd Annual Report 2012



Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2012

DIvIDEnDs (ConsolIDaTED)

2012
CEnTs PEr

sharE

2011
CEnTs PEr

sharE
2012
$000

2011
$000

recognised amounts

Final dividend – previous financial year 5.0 10.0 24,873 48,376

Interim dividend – this financial year 5.0 3.0 25,020 14,850

Dividend forgone under the Bonus Share Plan – – (978) (325)

10.0 13.0 48,915 62,901

unrecognised amounts

Final dividend – this year 6.0 5.0

All dividends paid were 100% franked at the corporate income tax rate (2012: 30%; 2011: 30%). The record date for determining 
entitlement to the final dividend is 21 September 2012. The final dividend is payable on 8 October 2012. The Company offers a Dividend 
Reinvestment Plan (“DRP”) and a Bonus Share Plan (“BSP”). The last date for an election notice for participation in these plans is 
21 September 2012.

The Directors have determined that the DRP and BSP will operate at a nil discount (30 June 2011: 1% discount) based on the volume 
weighted average price (“VWAP”) for Primary’s fully paid ordinary shares on the eight day trading period commencing one clear trading 
day after the record date.
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 30 June 2012

ConsolIDaTED

noTE
2012
$000

2011
$000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 1,439,905 1,356,098

Payments to suppliers and employees (1,087,464) (1,076,432)

Interest and other costs of finance paid (91,480) (80,713)

Net income tax paid (26,096) (24,727)

Payments against restructuring provision (7,347) (16,804)

Interest received 726 1,275

Dividends received 461 1,715

net cash provided by operating activities 32(b) 228,705 160,412

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for property plant and equipment (79,315) (99,099)

Payment for businesses purchased 32(e) (66,014) (84,912)

Payments for subsidiaries 32(e) (1,000) (1,538)

Payment for other intangibles (26,186) (20,370)

Payment for investments (2,270) (2,439)

Proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment 1,801 10,485

Proceeds from the sale of investments 176 1,223

net cash (used in) investing activities (172,808) (196,650)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings and finance lease liabilities (176,726) (159,821)

Proceeds from borrowings 136,000 266,273

Dividends paid (37,628) (45,248)

Payment for debt issue costs (10,600) (7,545)

Proceeds from issues of shares 230 411

Payments for share issue costs (23) (312)

net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (88,747) 53,758

net (decrease) increase in cash held (32,850) 17,520

Cash at the beginning of the year 43,252 25,812

Effect of exchange rate movements on cash held in foreign currencies 30 (80)

Cash at the end of the year 32(a) 10,432 43,252
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

1. summarY oF sIgnIFICanT aCCounTIng PolICIEs

Primary Health Care Limited (“Primary”) is domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial statements of Primary for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2012 comprises Primary and its subsidiaries (together referred to as (“the consolidated entity”) or (“the Group”)) and the 
consolidated entity’s interest in associated and jointly controlled entities.

Statement of compliance
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with other requirements of the law. The financial statements are the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“A-IFRS”). Compliance with A-IFRS 
ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 25 September 2012.

Adoption of new and revised standards

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure of items within the financial statements
There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting results or 
financial position.

Early adoption of Standards
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for the financial year ended 30 
June 2012 but are available for early adoption. The reported results and position of the Group is not expected to materially change 
on adoption of these pronouncements as they do not result in any changes to the Group’s existing accounting policies. Adoption will, 
however, result in changes to information currently disclosed in the financial statements. The Group does not intend to adopt any of 
these pronouncements before their effective dates.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Judgements made by management that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of 
material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. Cost is 
based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars.

Primary is a Company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which 
ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of 
the underlying transactions or other events is reported. 

Where necessary, comparative amounts have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year accounting policy and 
disclosures. Further details on the nature and reason for amounts that have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current 
year accounting policy and disclosures, where considered material, are referred to separately in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(a) Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by Primary. Control is the power of an entity, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and 
operating policies of another entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that presently 
are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
report from the date that control is obtained until the date that control ceases. All inter-entity transactions, balances and any unrealised 
gains and losses arising from inter-entity transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. Non-controlling interests in the results and 
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income statement and balance sheet respectively. 

Accounts of foreign controlled entities, prepared in accordance with foreign accounting principles are, for consolidation purposes, 
amended to conform with A-IFRS and the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. Investments in subsidiaries are carried at their cost 
of acquisition in Primary’s financial statements.

Associated entities
Associates are entities over which the consolidated entity has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating policies 
of the entity. The consolidated entity’s share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates is included in the consolidated financial 
statements on an equity accounted basis, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

1. summarY oF sIgnIFICanT aCCounTIng PolICIEs (CONTINUED)

When the consolidated entity’s share of the losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the consolidated entity’s carrying amount of 
the associate investment is reduced to nil and no further losses are recognised unless the consolidated entity has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an associate.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the consolidated entity’s interest in the entity 
with adjustments made to “investment in associates” and “share of net profits of associates”. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the 
same way as unrealised gains.

Jointly controlled entities
Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the consolidated entity has joint control, established by a contractual 
agreement, including partnerships. The consolidated entity’s share of the jointly controlled entity’s net profit or loss is recognised in 
the consolidated income statement, on an equity accounted basis, from the date joint control is established until the date joint control 
ceases. Other reserve movements are recognised directly in consolidated reserves. 

Investments in jointly controlled entities are carried at the lower of the equity accounted amount and recoverable amount. 

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interests of non-controlling 
shareholders may be initially measured at either fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition by acquisition basis. Subsequent 
to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. 

(b) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business combination is 
measured at fair value, calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, the liabilities 
incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity issued by the Group, and the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation 
in accordance with contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions 
as at the acquisition date.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes 
to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or a liability will be recognised in either profit or loss or 
in other comprehensive income.

(c) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated to functional currency at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the transaction dates. At 
balance date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates of exchange ruling on that 
date. Exchange differences arising on retranslation are brought to account as exchange gains or losses in the income statement in the 
period in which the exchange rates change. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair 
value are retranslated at exchange rates ruling at the date the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

Foreign statements of foreign operations
The results and financial position of foreign operations of controlled entities have been translated to Australian dollars as follows:

 – assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate ruling at balance sheet date;

 – income and expenses are translated at rates approximating the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transactions; and

 – all foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised directly in a separate component of equity.

(d) Revenue recognition

Rendering of health related services
Revenue generated from the rendering of health related services is recognised once the services have been provided.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is a reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to 
them and the grants will be received. Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the 
related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for 
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs 
are recognised as income of the period in which they become receivable.

Software revenue
Fees and royalties paid for the use of the Group’s health technology software are recognised in accordance with the relevant agreement. 
Where the agreement includes an identifiable amount for subsequent servicing, that amount is deferred and recognised as revenue over 
the period during which the service is performed. The expenses in relation to this revenue are also recognised over the period during 
which the service is performed. All other amounts are typically recognised as revenue immediately.
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1. summarY oF sIgnIFICanT aCCounTIng PolICIEs (CONTINUED)

Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established. Interest revenue 
is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

Rental income
Revenue from operating leases is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy outlined in note 1(l).

(e) Share-based payments
The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 
exercise restrictions, and behavioural considerations. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based 
payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of shares that will eventually vest. 
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of instruments that are expected to vest. It recognises the 
impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to reserves.

(f) Finance costs
Finance costs comprise: interest expense on finance leases, interest expense on interest-bearing liabilities and the amortisation of costs 
associated with arranging interest-bearing liabilities.

Finance costs are expensed as incurred, unless they relate to costs associated with arranging interest bearing liabilities or they relate to 
qualifying assets. Finance costs associated with arranging interest bearing liabilities are amortised on a straight line basis over the term 
of the interest bearing liability they relate to.

Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use (for example the 
construction and fit-out of a new Medical Centre). In these circumstances, finance costs are capitalised to the cost of the asset using the 
weighted average interest rate applicable to the Group’s outstanding interest-bearing liabilities during the relevant period.

(g) Income tax

Current tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for 
the period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for 
current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses 
and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to 
them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither 
taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences 
arising from goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and liability 
giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting 
date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to items credited 
or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or excess.

Tax consolidation
Primary Health Care Limited and all of its Australian wholly-owned controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. 
The head entity, Primary Health Care Limited, and the controlled entities in the Tax Consolidated Group continue to account for their 
own deferred tax amounts in relation to temporary differences. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the Tax Consolidated 
Group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Primary Health 
Care Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from controlled entities in the Tax Consolidated Group. Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the 
tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.

(h) Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

 –  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

 – for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.
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1. summarY oF sIgnIFICanT aCCounTIng PolICIEs (CONTINUED)

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. Cash flows 
are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities 
which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(i) Consumables
Consumables represent medical and laboratory supplies. They are valued at the lower of cost, on a first in first out basis, and net 
realisable value.

(j) Financial assets
The consolidated entity classifies its financial assets into the following categories: receivables, other investments and other financial 
assets. The classification of the financial asset depends upon the purpose for which the financial asset was acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

Receivables
Receivables are carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, less impairment losses. 

Other Investments
Other investments are measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

Other financial assets
Certain shares held by the Group are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value less any impairment losses. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and presented in the available-for-
sale revaluation reserve, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for the period. Dividends on available-for-
sale financial assets are recognised in profit and loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is unconditionally established.

(k) Property, plant and equipment
Assets under construction are carried at the lower of initial cost plus capitalised development expenditure and recoverable amount.

Land and buildings, plant and equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that settlement of all 
or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present 
value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset to its estimated residual value, over its 
expected useful life, or for leasehold improvements, over the period of the lease or its expected useful life, whichever is the shorter. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

 – Buildings on freehold land 40 years

 – Freehold land Not depreciated

 – Plant and equipment 3–20 years

 – Leasehold improvements 1–40 years

(l) Leased assets
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the 
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Group entity as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Group entity as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are expensed as incurred.

Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. The aggregate benefits 
of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

(m) Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at its cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination 
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised at the date of the 
acquisition. Goodwill is subsequently measured at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs), or Groups of CGUs, 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination. CGUs or Groups of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are 
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired.

If the recoverable amount of the CGU (or Group of CGUs) is less than the carrying amount of the CGU (or Groups of CGUs), the 
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (or Groups of CGUs) and then to 
the other assets of the CGUs pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU (or Groups of CGUs). An impairment 
loss recognised for goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss and is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of an operation within a CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on 
disposal of the operation.

(n) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses, and are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their useful lives. All potential intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately 
from goodwill where they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair value can be measured reliably.

Research and development costs
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Where no internally-generated 
intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period as incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of 
the following are demonstrated:

 – the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

 – the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

 – the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

 – how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

 –  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible 
asset; and

 – the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The following estimated useful lives used in the calculation of amortisation:

 – Copyright in computer software programs  9.5 years

 – Capitalised development costs 3–10 years

 – Operating rights and licences 3–15 years

 – Computer software 3–10 years

(o) Useful lives
The useful life of property, plant and equipment and other intangibles are reviewed at least annually and, where changed, shall 
be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate. Where useful lives are changed, the net written down value of the asset is 
depreciated or amortised from the date of the change in accordance with the new useful life. Depreciation and amortisation recognised 
in prior financial years shall not be changed, that is, the change in useful life shall be accounted for on a ‘prospective basis’.

(p) Impairment of assets (excluding goodwill)
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is 
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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(q) Payables
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from 
the purchase of goods and services.

(r) Employee benefits
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave when it is 
probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. Provisions made in respect of employee 
benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply 
at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured at the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

(s) Interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing 
liabilities are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being 
recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability using the effective interest method.

(t) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event; it is probable that 
the Group will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount 
recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. When some or all of the economic benefits required 
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Refer Note 16(d) for further analysis.

(u) Financial instruments issued by Primary

Debt and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement.

Transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments
Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the proceeds of the equity 
instruments to which the costs relate. Transaction costs are the costs that are incurred directly in connection with the issue of those 
equity instruments and which would not have been incurred had those instruments not been issued.

(v) Derivatives
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risks, predominantly arising from financing activities. The 
Group does not enter, hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to 
their fair value. The gain or loss on derivatives which are not part of a hedging relationship are recognised immediately in the income 
statement. The method of recognising the gain or loss on derivatives that are part of a hedging transaction depends on the nature of 
the item being hedged.

Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a 
highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly 
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion of the derivative financial instrument is recognised immediately in the 
income statement.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the associated cumulative gain 
or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. 

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or liability, then the associated gains and 
losses previously recognised in equity are reclassified into profit or loss in the same period during which the asset acquired or liability 
assumed affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship but 
the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in 
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, then the 
cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately recognised in the income statement.
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2. sEgmEnT InFormaTIon 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board (the chief 
operating decision makers) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of resources.

For internal management reporting purposes, the Group is organised into the four major operating segments, described below:

Medical Centres – This division provides a range of services and facilities to general practitioners, specialists and other health care 
providers who conduct their own practices and businesses at its medical centres.

Pathology – This division provides pathology services.

Imaging – This division provides imaging and scanning services from stand-alone imaging sites and from within the consolidated entity’s 
medical centres.

Health Technology – This division develops, sells and supports health related software products.

Inter-segment sales
All inter-segment sales are eliminated on consolidation.

Medical Centres – This division charges the Group’s Imaging and Pathology divisions a fee for use of its facilities and services.

Health Technology – This division charges all other Operating Segments a fee for IT research, development and support on behalf of the 
individual Operating Segment as appropriate.

2012

mEDICal
CEnTrEs

$000
PaThologY

$000
ImagIng

$000

hEalTh
TEChnologY

$000
oThEr

$000
ToTal

$000

revenue 289,969 785,413 307,926 48,672 1,159 1,433,139

Intersegment sales (28,283) – – (12,789) – (41,072)

Total revenue 261,686 785,413 307,926 35,883 1,159 1,392,067

EBITDa 160,020 132,427 59,354 19,870 (20,612) 351,059

Depreciation 16,328 14,904 29,074 1,215 670 62,191

Amortisation 6,589 5,563 3,034 7,905 584 23,675

EBIT 137,103 111,960 27,246 10,750 (21,866) 265,193

Interest expense 82,049

Amortisation of borrowing costs 14,709

Profit before tax 168,435

Goodwill 1,165,699 1,545,813 362,110 65,091 – 3,138,713

Segment assets excl. goodwill 246,196 197,664 174,646 42,474 62,254 723,234

Consolidated assets 1,411,895 1,744,477 536,756 107,565 62,254 3,861,947

Consolidated liabilities 25,585 107,072 46,235 24,065 1,085,877 1,288,834

2011

mEDICal
CEnTrEs 

$000
PaThologY

$000
ImagIng

$000

hEalTh
TEChnologY

$000
oThEr

$000
ToTal

$000

revenue 274,643 740,052 285,026 48,896 12,406 1,361,023

Intersegment sales (25,770) – – (12,957) – (38,727)

Revenue including share 
of associates 248,873 740,052 285,026 35,939 12,406 1,322,296

EBITDa 150,353 118,639 43,387 19,526 (3,954) 327,951

Depreciation 16,234 15,221 26,822 531 2,160 60,968

Amortisation 6,296 4,210 3,052 6,660 1,010 21,228

EBIT 127,823 99,208 13,513 12,335 (7,124) 245,755

Interest expense 87,875

Amortisation of borrowing costs 9,210

Non-recurring items 12,331 7,093 9,608 88 5,580 34,700

Profit before tax 113,970

Goodwill 1,115,987 1,545,813 354,707 65,091 – 3,081,598

Segment assets excl. goodwill 242,085 179,638 178,836 41,010 102,487 744,056

Consolidated assets 1,358,072 1,725,451 533,543 106,101 102,487 3,825,654

Consolidated liabilities 18,766 94,256 30,012 4,359 1,173,872 1,321,265
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3. rEvEnuE

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Trading revenue 1,390,880 1,308,980

other revenue

Interest:

 Other entities 726 1,275

Dividends:

 Liquidation distribution received 461 1,715

 Other entities – 10

Net proceeds from litigation – 9,376

Profit on sale of available-for-sale financial assets – 738

1,392,067 1,322,094

4. EmPloYEE BEnEFITs ExPEnsE

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Salaries and wages 471,318 458,428

Superannuation contributions 40,911 39,974

Other statutory employer obligations 74,921 72,459

Share-based payments 885 1,288

588,035 572,149

Other statutory employer contributions principally relate to employee entitlements (being annual leave, sick leave and long service 
leave), and employee related taxes. 

5. ProPErTY ExPEnsEs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Operating leases 132,762 126,687

Other property expenses 35,101 31,743

167,863 158,430
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6. non rECurrIng ITEms

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Lease tails and make good of closed sites – 14,700

Redundancies and related costs – 9,400

Assets written off at closed sites – 6,700

Legal and other costs – 3,900

– 34,700

Non-recurring items in the prior year all related to one off restructuring costs.

7. sharE-BasED PaYmEnTs

(a) Overview
Primary issues share options to both independent contractors and employees of the Group.

During the 2003 financial year, Primary introduced an Employee Option Plan to formalise the issue of options to employees. Under 
this Plan, at the discretion of the Board, Primary may grant (without payment) share options to key long-term employees, including 
executives, allowing them to participate in the future growth of Primary. Each option is convertible into one ordinary share of Primary on 
payment of the exercise price during the two years following the vesting date, which is generally three years after the option is granted. 
The exercise price is the weighted average market price for the five days preceding the date the option is granted. The options hold no 
voting or dividend rights and are not transferable. Primary does not provide any loans or guarantees to enable employees to finance the 
exercise of their options. Options lapse if the employee ceases to be employed by the Group.

Primary has also issued options to some of its key independent contractors. These options are not issued under a Plan. They are made 
from time to time at the discretion of the Board. Options issued to independent contractors to date have been issued without payment. 
They have vesting periods of between one and eight years. Once vested, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of Primary 
on payment of the exercise price. The exercise price is generally the weighted average market price for the five days preceding the 
date the option is granted. The options hold no voting or dividend rights and are not transferable. Primary does not provide any loans 
or guarantees to enable independent contractors to finance the exercise of their options. Options lapse if the independent contractor 
ceases to have a contractual relationship with the Group or if they are not exercised before their expiry date which is generally two years 
after their vesting date.

A summary of options issued is set out on the following pages. Issues 7 to 17 have been issued to employees and issues 101 to 115 have 
been issued to independent contractors.

(b) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
No options were issued during the financial year (30 June 2011: nil).

Exercise prices and expiry dates of options on issue in the year are contained in the tables on the following pages. Expected volatility 
is based on the historical share price volatility. Given options on issue do not have any market related vesting conditions; the total fair 
value of options at grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over each of the reporting periods between grant date and vesting 
date. That portion of the fair value of options granted in any financial year which has been allocated to the current and previous 
financial year is shown in the table below.

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Options issued to employees 145 174

Options issued to independent contractors 740 1,114

885 1,288
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7.   sharE-BasED PaYmEnTs (CONTINUED)

(c) Details of option issues

granT
DaTE

valuE PEr
oPTIon aT

granT DaTE
ExPIrY

DaTE
ExErCIsE

PrICE
EarlIEsT DaTE

ExErCIsaBlE

Issue 7a 16 Feb 2005 1.51 7 Mar 2012 $5.35 7 Mar 2010

Issue 12 31 Oct 2006 1.06 29 Sep 2011 $9.02 29 Sep 2009

Issue 13 1 Jun 2007 1.24 1 Jul 2012 $9.35 1 July 2010

Issue 15 2 Oct 2009 0.40 – 0.42 1 Oct 2015 $5.75 2 Oct 2012

Issue 16 2 Oct 2009 0.41 – 0.44 31 Aug 2018 $5.93 1 Oct 2011

Issue 17 23 Nov 2009 0.42 – 0.45 1 Oct 2015 $5.93 2 Oct 2012

Issue 101 28 Feb 2003 0.65 – 1.04 30 Dec 2013 $0.43 23 Feb 2006

Issue 102 25 Jul 2003 0.60 – 1.20 30 Dec 2011 $1.15 6 Jan 2005

Issue 103 27 Feb 2004 0.58 – 0.92 24 Sep 2012 $2.10 1 Jul 2005

Issue 104 29 Oct 2004 0.72 – 0.94 2 Dec 2011 $3.14 1 Oct 2006

Issue 105 11 Apr 2005 1.21 – 1.39 24 Mar 2012 $5.45 11 Apr 2008

Issue 106 1 Jun 2005 0.97 – 1.36 1 Jun 2014 $5.18 1 Jun 2007

Issue 107 5 Oct 2005 1.56 – 1.94 1 Nov 2013 $7.51 2 Oct 2008

Issue 108 13 Feb 2006 1.74 13 Feb 2012 $8.30 13 Feb 2010

Issue 109 2 May 2006 1.17 – 1.97 2 Jun 2013 $8.99 6 Jul 2007

Issue 110 31 Oct 2006 1.04 – 1.25 13 Dec 2013 $9.02 1 Aug 2009

Issue 111 1 Jun 2007 1.10 – 1.39 19 Dec 2012 $9.35 1 Oct 2009

Issue 112 2 Nov 2007 1.15 – 1.75 6 Dec 2014 $9.15 1 Nov 2009

Issue 113 2 Oct 2009 0.30 – 0.43 27 Aug 2017 $5.75 2 Oct 2010

Issue 114 2 Oct 2009 0.38 – 0.44 27 Feb 2019 $5.93 18 Feb 2012

Issue 115 25 Jan 2010 0.42 – 0.52 29 May 2019 $6.03 21 Feb 2012

(d) Movement in number of options outstanding

2012
oPEnIng
BalanCE 

granTED
DurIng YEar

ExErCIsED
DurIng YEar

laPsED
DurIng YEar

ClosIng
BalanCE

vEsTED anD
ExErCIsaBlE

aT EnD oF YEar

Issue 7a 200,000 – – (200,000) – –

Issue 12 110,000 – – (110,000) – –

Issue 13 30,000 – – – 30,000 30,000

Issue 15 1,261,000 – – (15,000) 1,246,000 –

Issue 16 893,000 – – (141,000) 752,000 32,500

Issue 17 675,500 – – (50,000) 625,500 –

Issue 101 125,000 – (70,000) (55,000) – –

Issue 102 – – – – – –

Issue 103 – – – – – –

Issue 104 323,500 – (50,000) (273,500) – –

Issue 106 150,000 – – – 150,000 50,000

Issue 107 755,000 – – (425,000) 330,000 330,000

Issue 108 30,000 – – – 30,000 30,000

Issue 109 545,000 – – (82,500) 462,500 462,500

Issue 110 562,500 – – (100,000) 462,500 462,500

Issue 111 320,000 – – (40,000) 280,000 280,000

Issue 112 1,125,000 – – (110,000) 1,015,000 437,500

Issue 113 2,315,000 – – (470,000) 1,845,000 322,500

Issue 114 5,495,000 – – (387,000) 5,108,000 1,345,000

Issue 115 1,425,000 – – (342,500) 1,082,500 –

16,340,500 – (120,000) (2,801,500) 13,419,000 3,782,500

Weighted average  
exercise price $5.86 n/a $1.56 $5.49 $5.98 $7.47
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7.   sharE-BasED PaYmEnTs (CONTINUED)

2011
oPEnIng
BalanCE 

granTED
DurIng YEar

ExErCIsED
DurIng YEar

laPsED
DurIng YEar

ClosIng
BalanCE

vEsTED anD
ExErCIsaBlE

aT EnD oF YEar

Issue 7a 200,000 – – – 200,000 200,000

Issue 10 100,000 – – (100,000) – –

Issue 12 110,000 – – – 110,000 110,000

Issue 13 30,000 – – – 30,000 –

Issue 15 1,361,000 – – (100,000) 1,261,000 –

Issue 16 1,003,000 – – (110,000) 893,000 –

Issue 17 715,500 – – (40,000) 675,500 –

Issue 101 242,000 – (117,000) – 125,000 55,000

Issue 102 10,000 – (10,000) – – –

Issue 103 211,000 – (136,000) (75,000) – –

Issue 104 433,500 – – (110,000) 323,500 323,500

Issue 106 150,000 – – – 150,000 100,000

Issue 107 812,500 – – (57,500) 755,000 730,000

Issue 108 30,000 – – – 30,000 30,000

Issue 109 575,000 – – (30,000) 545,000 545,000

Issue 110 617,500 – – (55,000) 562,500 135,000

Issue 111 320,000 – – – 320,000 320,000

Issue 112 1,390,000 – – (265,000) 1,125,000 125,000

Issue 113 2,635,000 – – (320,000) 2,315,000 100,000

Issue 114 5,520,000 – – (25,000) 5,495,000 –

Issue 115 1,615,000 – – (190,000) 1,425,000 –

18,081,000 – (263,000) (1,477,500) 16,340,500 2,773,500

Weighted average  
exercise price $5.78 N/A $1.32 $5.69 $5.86 $7.28
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8. Tax BalanCEs

(a) Income tax expense

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

The prima facie income tax expense on pre tax accounting profit reconciles to the  
income tax expense in the financial statements as follows:

Profit before tax 168,435 113,970

Income tax calculated at 30% (2011: 30%) 50,531 34,191

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

 Acquisition-related costs 1,231 1,097

 Share-based payments expense 265 387

 Research and development allowance (105) (627)

 Other (64) 98

51,858 35,146

(Over) provision in prior years (2,365) (939)

Income tax expense 49,493 34,207

Comprising:

Current tax 39,609 28,489

Deferred tax 12,249 6,657

(Over) provision in prior years (2,365) (939)

49,493 34,207

(b) Reconciliation of deferred tax balances

2012
1 JulY 2011

oPEnIng
BalanCE

aCquIrED/
(DIsPosED)

ChargED
To InComE

ChargED
To EquITY

30 JunE 2012
ClosIng
BalanCE

Receivables (4,080) – 434 – (3,646)

Consumables (7,362) – (39) – (7,401)

Prepayments (163) – (13) – (176)

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,636 – – (576) 1,060

Property, plant and equipment 5,560 – (140) – 5,420

Intangibles 3,133 – 1,039 – 4,172

Capitalised costs (8,282) – (5,229) – (13,511)

Payables 3,231 – (1,958) – 1,273

Provisions 21,389 – (1,722) – 19,667

Other financial liabilities – – – 6,330 6,330

Lease liabilities 779 – (779) – –

Amortisation of share issue expenses 6,161 – (5,089) – 1,072

Net temporary differences 22,002 – (13,496) 5,754 14,260

Tax losses – revenue 12,315 – (7,726) – 4,589

Deferred tax asset 34,317 – (21,222) 5,754 18,849
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8. Tax BalanCEs (CONTINUED)

2011 
1 JulY 2010

oPEnIng
BalanCE

aCquIrED/
(DIsPosED)

ChargED
To InComE

ChargED
To EquITY

30 JunE 2011
ClosIng
BalanCE

Receivables (5,595) – 1,515 – (4,080)

Consumables (7,256) – (106) – (7,362)

Prepayments (304) – 141 – (163)

Available-for-sale financial assets 1,058 – 2 576 1,636

Property, plant and equipment 8,040 – (2,480) – 5,560

Intangibles 2,191 – 942 – 3,133

Capitalised costs (6,624) – (1,658) – (8,282)

Payables 3,129 – 102 – 3,231

Provisions 21,017 – 372 – 21,389

Lease liabilities – – 779 – 779

Amortisation of share issue expenses 12,427 – (6,266) – 6,161

Net temporary differences 28,083 – (6,657) 576 22,002

Tax losses – revenue 13,111 – (796) – 12,315

Deferred tax asset 41,194 – (7,453) 576 34,317

(c) Current tax balances

ConsolIDaTED

noTE
2012
$000

2011
$000

Income tax receivable/(payable) is attributable to:

 Entities in the Tax Consolidated Group 1,500 –

 Other (199) –

1,301 –

(d) Other current tax liabilities

ConsolIDaTED

noTE
2012
$000

2011
$000

Franking deficit tax payable 26 – 2,220

As at 30 June 2011, the consolidated franking account of the Group had a franking deficit of $2,220,407, which was paid to the Australian 
Taxation Office as a franking deficit tax (‘FDT’) during the financial year.

The FDT was not imposed as a tax penalty. It was a payment required to make good the excess franking credits utilised on the fully 
franked dividend distributions made during the year and was offset against the tax liability of the Tax Consolidated Group during the 
financial year.

(e) Tax consolidation legislation
Primary Health Care Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation as 
of 1 July 2002. The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note 1(g). The entities in the Tax Consolidated Group have 
entered into a tax sharing agreement which, in the opinion of the Directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly owned 
entities in the case of a default by the head entity, Primary Health Care Limited.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully compensate Primary Health 
Care Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by Primary Health Care Limited for any current tax receivable 
and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to Primary Health Care Limited under the 
tax consolidation legislation.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon demand by the head entity, which may be oral or 
written. The head entity may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments.
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9. rEmunEraTIon oF auDITor
ConsolIDaTED

2012
$

2011
$

Auditing the financial report 890,000 850,000

Other services:

 Tax consulting 118,975 184,500

 Advisory services 314,000 144,000

1,322,975 1,178,500

10. rECEIvaBlEs
ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Measured at amortised cost
(a) Current
Trade receivables 90,055 93,841

Allowance for doubtful debts (3,909) (4,400)

86,146 89,441

Other receivables and prepayments 72,499 67,260

158,645 156,701

(b) Non-current
Other 2,853 1,957

2,853 1,957

(c) Ageing of trade receivables
Current 56,237 51,472

30–60 days 14,986 12,751

60–90 days 5,495 5,202

90 days + 13,337 24,416

90,055 93,841

The ageing of trade receivables is as follows: current $56.2m (30 June 2011: $51.5m); past due $33.3m (30 June 
2011: $42.3m) of which $29.4m has not been impaired (30 June 2011: $38.0m). ‘Past due’ is defined under 
accounting standards to mean any amount outstanding for one or more days after the contractual due date.

(d) Movement in allowance for doubtful debts
Balance at beginning of year 4,400 6,125

Provision for the year 3,070 2,968

Doubtful debts (recovered/written off) during the year (3,561) (4,693)

3,909 4,400

No interest is charged on trade receivables. The Group’s policy requires customers to pay the Group in accordance with agreed payment 
terms. All credit and recovery risk associated with trade receivables has been provided for in the balance sheet. Trade receivables have 
been aged according to their original due date in the above ageing analysis. 

The Group has used the following basis to assess the allowance for doubtful debts:

 – a collective impairment based on historical bad debt experience;

 – an individual account by account specific risk assessment based on past credit history; and

 – any prior knowledge of debtor insolvency or other credit risk.

In the event of default on the Group’s Syndicated Debt Facility (note 32(d)), the Group has pledged $90.1m of receivables as security 
over this liability (30 June 2011: $93.8m). The amount pledged has decreased from 30 June 2011 as it is a floating charge over the 
Group’s receivables.

Further discussion of the credit risk associated with trade receivables is included in note 31.
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11. ProPErTY, PlanT anD EquIPmEnT (ConsolIDaTED)

2012

FrEEholD
lanD anD
BuIlDIngs

$000

assETs
unDEr

ConsTruCTIon 
$000

lEasEholD
ImProvEmEnTs

$000

PlanT anD
EquIPmEnT

 $000
ToTal

$000

net book value

Opening balance 3,273 24,699 183,534 186,374 397,880

Additions 846 37,923 1,808 38,737 79,315

Capitalised borrowing costs – – 2,176 – 2,176

Transfers (note 13) – (33,397) 13,750 9,949 (9,698)

Disposals – – (2,296) (49) (2,345)

Depreciation expense (40) – (17,169) (44,982) (62,191)

Closing balance 4,079 29,225 181,803 190,029 405,136

Cost 4,897 29,225 269,859 483,351 787,332

Accumulated depreciation (818) – (88,056) (293,176) (382,050)

Impairment provision – – – (146) (146)

Closing balance 4,079 29,225 181,803 190,029 405,136

Borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets were capitalised using an interest rate of 6.5% (30 June 2011: 8.0%).

2011

FrEEholD
lanD anD
BuIlDIngs

$000

assETs
unDEr

ConsTruCTIon 
$000

lEasEholD
ImProvEmEnTs

$000

PlanT anD
EquIPmEnT

 $000
ToTal

$000

Net book value

Opening balance 7,305 20,964 163,324 176,133 367,726

Additions – 58,027 2,827 43,761 104,615

Capitalised borrowing costs – – 2,219 – 2,219

Transfers (note 13) – (54,292) 30,999 15,707 (7,586)

Impairment provision utilised – – – 15 15

Disposals (3,941) – (853) (3,347) (8,141)

Depreciation expense (91) – (14,982) (45,895) (60,968)

Closing balance 3,273 24,699 183,534 186,374 397,880

Cost 4,051 24,699 254,421 434,712 717,883

Accumulated depreciation (778) – (70,887) (248,192) (319,857)

Impairment provision – – – (146) (146)

Closing balance 3,273 24,699 183,534 186,374 397,880
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12. gooDwIll

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

(a) Carrying value
Opening balance 3,081,598 2,999,778

Acquisition of businesses 57,115 77,639

Acquisition of subsidiaries – 4,181

Closing balance 3,138,713 3,081,598

(b) Impairment tests 
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs)

by individual Operating Segment as follows:

Medical Centres 1,165,699 1,115,987

Pathology 1,545,813 1,545,813

Imaging 362,110 354,707

Health Technology 65,091 65,091

3,138,713 3,081,598

The carrying amount of goodwill of each CGU is tested for impairment at each reporting date and whenever there is an indicator that 
the asset may be impaired. If an asset is impaired, it is written down to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is based on a 
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on the 2013 financial year budget. The key assumptions used in determining 
value in use for 30 June 2012 are:

assumPTIon how DETErmInED

Forecast revenues and expenses Forecast revenues and expenses has been calculated assuming long-term growth 
rates as follows:

– Medical Centres – 4.0% (30 June 2011: 4.0%).

– Pathology – 4.4% (30 June 2011: 4.4%).

– Imaging – 4.0% (30 June 2011: 4.0%).

– Health Technology – 5.0% (30 June 2011: 5.0%).

Long-term growth rate The above long-term growth rate for each of the CGUs does not exceed the 
long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.

Cost of Equity Capital The discount rate applied to the cash flows of each of the Group’s operations is 
based on the risk free rate for ten year Commonwealth Government bonds as at 30 
June 2012, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both the increased risk of investing 
in equities and the systematic risk of the specific Group operating company. In 
making this adjustment, inputs required are the equity markets risk premium (that is 
the required increased return required over and above a risk free rate by an investor 
who is investing in the market as a whole) and the risk adjustment, beta, applied to 
reflect the risk of the specific Group operating company relative to the market as a 
whole, giving rise to the Group’s Cost of Equity Capital.

Ten Year Commonwealth Government Bond Rate The Ten Year Commonwealth Government Bond Rate as at 30 June 2012 was 3.09% 
(30 June 2011: 5.21%). The Group has used 4.50% for 30 June 2012 impairment 
testing purposes (30 June 2011: 5.21%).

Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) The Group’s WACC is calculated with reference to its Cost of Equity Capital, uplifted 
by the forecast average cost of outstanding debt on the Group’s interest bearing 
liabilities over the measurement period, split by CGU as follows:

– Medical Centres – 12.91% (30 June 2011: 13.67%).

– Pathology – 12.55% (30 June 2011: 13.31%).

– Imaging – 12.55% (30 June 2011: 13.31%).

– Health Technology – 15.70% (30 June 2011: 16.66%).

Other key assumptions used
Based on a five year cash flow projection model, terminal growth rates for each of the CGUs are consistent with long-term growth rates assumed.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group has conducted sensitivity analysis on the assumptions above to assess the effect on recoverable amount of changes in the 
key assumptions.

The Group is satisfied that all the assumptions on which the recoverable amounts are based are fair and reasonable, and that currently 
overall there are no reasonably known changes to these assumptions that would cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the 
aggregate recoverable amount of any of the Group’s CGUs as at 30 June 2012. 
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13. oThEr InTangIBlE assETs (ConsolIDaTED)

2012

CoPYrIghT
In ComPuTEr

soFTwarE
Programs

$000

CaPITalIsED
DEvEloPmEnT

CosTs
$000

oPEraTIng
rIghTs anD

lICEnCEs
$000

ComPuTEr
soFTwarE

$000
ToTal

$000

net book value

Opening balance 16,393 18,864 30,267 16,848 82,372

Additions – 13,758 9,590 2,838 26,186

Transfer from construction  
in progress (note 11) – 156 – 9,542 9,698

Disposals – – – (558) (558)

Amortisation expense (4,896) (4,068) (5,232) (9,479) (23,675)

Closing balance 11,497 28,710 34,625 19,191 94,023

Cost 46,500 36,891 68,160 62,508 214,059

Accumulated amortisation (35,003) (8,181) (33,535) (43,317) (120,036)

Closing Balance 11,497 28,710 34,625 19,191 94,023

2011

CoPYrIghT
In ComPuTEr

soFTwarE
Programs

$000

CaPITalIsED
DEvEloPmEnT

CosTs
$000

oPEraTIng
rIghTs anD

lICEnCEs
$000

ComPuTEr
soFTwarE

$000
ToTal

$000

Net book value

Opening balance 21,289 11,476 29,974 12,894 75,633

Additions – 9,207 10,742 432 20,381

Transfer from construction  
in progress (note 11) – – – 7,586 7,586

Amortisation expense (4,896) (1,819) (10,449) (4,064) (21,228)

Closing balance 16,393 18,864 30,267 16,848 82,372

Cost 46,500 22,977 58,570 50,686 178,733

Accumulated amortisation (30,107) (4,113) (28,303) (33,838) (96,361)

Closing Balance 16,393 18,864 30,267 16,848 82,372

14. oThEr FInanCIal assETs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Measured at fair value
(a) Current
Shares quoted on Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) 4,574 798

(b) Non-current
Other investments 1,278 1,168

Other 68 –

1,346 1,168
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15. PaYaBlEs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

(a) Current
Trade payables and accruals 91,040 78,825

Payables and accruals relating to acquisitions 9,540 17,816

Accrued interest 6,780 15,912

Deferred revenue 12,447 9,950

119,807 122,503

(b) Non-current
Trade payables and accruals 1,889 652

Payables and accruals relating to acquisitions 2,983 3,606

4,873 4,258

16. ProvIsIons

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

(a) Current
Provision for employee benefits (note 18(a)) 58,295 54,586

Self-insurance provision 3,082 4,630

Restructuring and onerous contract provision 265 7,612

61,642 66,828

(b) Non-current
Provision for employee benefits (note 18(a)) 3,115 5,485

Self-insurance provision 2,503 2,386

5,618 7,871

During the year the Group has reclassified all long service leave provisions for employees with greater than ten years service from 
non-current to current liabilities, including comparatives.

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

(c) Movements in non employee provisions
self-insurance provision

Opening balance 7,016 8,850

Provisions raised during the year 3,778 3,109

Payments (5,209) (4,943)

Closing balance 5,585 7,016

restructuring and onerous contract provision

Opening balance 7,612 2,309

Unwinding present value interest cost – 28

Provisions raised / (written back) during the year – 22,079

Payments (7,347) (16,804)

Closing balance 265 7,612
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16. ProvIsIons (CONTINUED)

(d) Nature and purpose of provisions

(i) Employee benefit provisions
Employee benefit provisions include annual leave and long service leave liabilities. The annual leave provision is measured on an 
undiscounted basis. The long service leave provision is recognised using the projected unit credit method. Expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on Commonwealth Government Bonds with terms to maturity that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash flows.

(ii) Self insurance provision
The provision relates primarily to self-insured workers’ compensation liabilities under the licensing conditions of the respective state 
authorities of Victoria, New South Wales, South Australia and Western Australia. The provision for workers’ compensation is based upon 
an estimate of future claims liabilities.

(iii) Restructuring and onerous contract provision
The provision relates to expenditure connected to restructuring the entity’s operations. 

17. oThEr FInanCIal lIaBIlITIEs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Current 10,966 –

Non-current 10,296 –

21,262 –

Other financial liabilities represent the hypothetical cost to the Group as at 30 June 2012 to close out all of the Group’s cash flow hedges. 
The current/non-current classification of the Other financial liability is determined by the maturity dates of the Group’s individual cash 
flow hedges.

The Group does not enter or hold derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

18.  EmPloYEE BEnEFITs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

(a) Provisions
The aggregate employee benefit and related on-cost liability recognised  
and included in the financial statements is as follows:

Provision for employee benefits – current (note 16(a)) 58,295 54,586

Provision for employee benefits – non-current (note 16(b)) 3,115 5,485

61,410 60,071

(b) Employee numbers
Number of employees at end of financial year 10,863 10,671

(c)  Superannuation commitments
Primary does not maintain a superannuation fund. 

Primary and its related entities meet their obligations under the Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992 by making superannuation 
contributions, at the statutory rate, to complying superannuation funds on behalf of their employees.
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19.  InTErEsT BEarIng lIaBIlITIEs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Measured at amortised cost
(a) Current
Gross bank loans 2,337 2,141

Finance lease liabilities (note 20(a)) 1,467 1,613

3,804 3,754

(b) Non-current
Gross bank loans 930,274 973,327

Retail bonds 152,274 152,274

Finance lease liabilities (note 20(a)) 1,372 4,115

1,084,920 1,129,716

Unamortised borrowing costs (12,092) (15,885)

1,071,828 1,113,831

All interest bearing liabilities are secured by mortgages over the Group’s freehold land and buildings, mortgages of lease and consent to 
charge over the Group’s leasehold properties and registered debenture charges over the Group’s assets. A Deed of Cross Guarantee is in 
place (refer note 30).

20. CommITmEnTs For ExPEnDITurE

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

(a) Finance lease commitments
Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable as follows:

Within one year 1,641 2,253

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 1,505 4,036

Minimum future lease payments 3,146 6,289

Less future finance charges (307) (561)

Present value of minimum lease payments 2,839 5,728

Included in the financial statements as:

Current (note 19(a)) 1,467 1,613

Non-current (note 19(b)) 1,372 4,115

2,839 5,728

(b) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable  
operating leases not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 106,238 102,417

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 176,868 186,799

Later than 5 years 25,429 27,506

308,535 316,722

(c) Capital commitments
Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment contracted for  
at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 4,286 8,089
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20. CommITmEnTs For ExPEnDITurE (CONTINUED)

(d) Operating and finance lease terms
Operating leases relate to medical centres and pathology sites with lease terms of between one and twenty years. Most of these leases 
have options to extend. The Group does not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease term.

Finance leases are secured by the assets leased and relate to medical and pathology equipment with lease terms of up to five years. The 
Group has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease.

(e) Investments
At balance date no capital commitments exist in respect of interests in partnerships, investments or joint ventures contracted that are 
not provided for the financial report.

21.  IssuED CaPITal (ComPanY & ConsolIDaTED)

2012
no. oF

sharEs
000’s

2011
no. oF

sharEs
000’s

2012
$000

2011
$000

Opening balance 497,420 491,366 2,357,623 2,338,443

Exercise of share options 120 313 230 411

Transfer from share-based payments reserve – – 112 236

Shares issued via Dividend Reinvestment Plan 3,840 5,416 11,287 18,554

Shares issued via Bonus Share Plan 337 325 – –

Capital raising/share issue costs, net of tax – – (23) (21)

Closing balance – Company 501,717 497,420 2,369,229 2,357,623

Reverse acquisition adjustment (1994) (19,865) (19,865)

Closing balance – Consolidated 2,349,364 2,337,758

Issued capital consists of fully-paid ordinary shares carrying one vote per share and the right to dividends.

22. EarnIngs PEr sharE

ConsolIDaTED

EarnIngs 
2012
$000

2011
$000

The earnings used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share  
are the same and can be reconciled to the income statement as follows:

Profit attributable to equity holders of Primary Health Care Limited 116,615 78,285

wEIghTED avEragE numBEr oF sharEs 
2012
000’s

2011
000’s 

The weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share 499,759 494,991

Potential ordinary shares 21 244

The weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share 499,780 495,235
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23. rEsErvEs

ConsolIDaTED

noTE
2012
$000

2011
$000

Cash flow hedge reserve 23(a) (14,769) –

Share-based payments reserve 23(b) 9,584 8,812

Available-for-sale revaluation reserve 23(c) 610 (1,072)

Foreign currency translation reserve 23(d) 1,046 (360)

(3,529) 7,380

(a) Cash flow hedge reserve
The effective portion of any gains or losses on the group’s cash flow hedges is recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve.

(b) Share-based payments reserve
The share-based payments reserve arises on the grant of share options to both independent contractors and employees. Amounts are 
transferred out of the reserve and into issued capital when options are exercised. Further information about share-based payments to 
both independent contractors and employees is made in note 7 to the financial statements.

(c) Available-for-sale revaluation reserve
The available-for-sale revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets. Where a revalued financial asset 
is sold, that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset, and is effectively realised, is recognised in profit or loss. Where a 
revalued financial asset is impaired that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset is recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Foreign currency translation reserve
Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s foreign controlled entities into Australian 
dollars are brought to account by entries made directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

24. rETaInED EarnIngs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Opening balance 154,251 138,867

Profit attributable to equity holders 116,615 78,285

Dividends paid (48,915) (62,901)

Closing balance 221,951 154,251
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25. non-ConTrollIng InTErEsTs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Opening balance 5,000 4,422

Share of profit for the year 2,327 1,478

Dividends paid (2,000) (900)

Closing balance 5,327 5,000

26. FrankIng aCCounT

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Opening deficit (credit) balance as at 1 July 2,220 (5,306)

Tax paid during the financial year (26,096) (24,727)

Franking credits attached to dividends paid:

 – Interim 2012 10,721 6,378

 – Final 2011 10,661 21,064

Other movements – 4,811

Closing (credit ) deficit balance as at 30 June (2,494) 2,220

27. rElaTED ParTY DIsClosurEs

(a) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 28.

(b) Equity interests in related entities
Details of interests in controlled entities are shown note 29.

Transactions within the wholly-owned Group
Loans between entities in the wholly-owned Group are repayable at call. If both parties to the loan are within the same tax consolidated 
Group, no interest is charged on the loan. If this is not the case, interest is charged on the loan at normal commercial rates.

During the financial year rental of premises and the rendering of IT services occurred between entities within the wholly-owned Group 
at commercial rates. 
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28. kEY managEmEnT PErsonnEl DIsClosurEs

Key management personnel compensation details are set out in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report.

Equity holdings and transactions

(a) Shareholdings 
The number of shares in Primary held during the financial year and as at the end of the financial year by each of the key management 
personnel, including their personally-related entities, is set out below.

2012
oPEnIng
BalanCE

rECEIvED DurIng ThE
YEar on ThE ExErCIsE

oF oPTIons
oThEr ChangEs

DurIng ThE YEar
ClosIng
BalanCE

R Ferguson 190,800 – – 190,800
B Ball 87,000 – – 87,000
EG Bateman 35,061,405 – 1,149,562 36,210,967
JD Crawford 79,711 – 2,777 82,488
P Jones 10,000 – 4,200 14,200
H Bateman 129,484 – 326 129,810
J Bateman 90,936 – (27,000) 63,936
A Duff 25,770 – 22,000 47,720
J Frost 11,169 – 389 11,558

2011
oPEnIng
BalanCE

rECEIvED DurIng ThE
YEar on ThE ExErCIsE

oF oPTIons
oThEr ChangEs

DurIng ThE YEar
ClosIng
BalanCE

R Ferguson 190,800 – – 190,800
B Ball 87,000 – – 87,000
EG Bateman 33,275,985 – 1,785,420 35,061,405
MJ Christie 3,592,488 – – 3,592,488
JD Crawford 76,772 – 2,939 79,711
S Higgs 606,278 – – 606,278
P Jones 10,000 – – 10,000
H Bateman 151,133 – (21,649) 129,484
J Bateman 132,436 – (94,500) 37,936
A Duff 4,620 – 21,150 25,770
J Frost 10,757 – 412 11,169
M Bardsley 10,886 – – 10,886

(b) Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel compensation included in Employee Benefits expense (refer Income Statement) is as follows:

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Short-term employee benefits 4,569 4,031
Post-employment benefits 170 169
Share-based payments – –

4,739 4,200

Details of the above amounts by individual key management personnel can be found in the Remuneration Report.

(c) Loans to key management personnel
No loans have been made to any of the key management personnel.

(d) Other transactions with key management personnel
From time to time, Directors and Group executives (and their personally related entities) enter into transactions with entities in the 
economic entity, including the use or provision of services under normal customer, supplier or employee relationships. These transactions:

 –  occur within a normal employee, customer or supplier relationship on terms and conditions no more favourable than those which it is 
reasonable to expect the entity would have adopted if dealing with the Director or their personally-related entity at arm’s length in the 
same circumstances;

 –  do not have the potential to adversely affect decisions about the allocation of scarce resources made by users of the financial report, 
or the discharge of accountability by the Director or executive; and

 – are trivial or domestic in nature.
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29.  suBsIDIarIEs 

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows

ProPorTIon oF ownErshIP
InTErEsT anD voTIng

PowEr hElD BY ThE grouP

namE oF suBsIDIarY

PlaCE oF
InCorPoraTIon
anD oPEraTIon

2012
%

2011
%

Primary Health Care Limited Australia

 Idameneo (No. 123) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

 Artlu Unit Trust Australia 100 100

  Digital Diagnostic Imaging Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 72

  Austrials Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  John R Elder Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

 Idameneo (No. 124) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

 PHC (No. 01) Pty Limited Australia 100 100

 PHC Nominees Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

 Former SDS Pty Limited Australia 100 100

 Sydney Diagnostic Services Unit Trust Australia 100 100

 Abbott Pathology Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

 Primary Training Institute Pty Ltd (b) Australia 100 –

 Health Communication Network Limited Australia 100 100

  Amokka Java Pty Limited Australia 100 100

  Phoenix Medical Publishing Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

 Transport Security Insurance (Pte) Limited Singapore 100 100

 Idameneo (No. 789) Ltd Australia 100 100

  Saftsal Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Aksertel Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Onosas Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  MGSF Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  PSCP Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  Wellness Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  PHC Healthcare Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

    PHC Medical Centre Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

     Sidameneo (No. 456) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

     Larches Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

      Kelldale Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

       Pacific Medical Centres Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  PHC Pathology Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Symbion Pathology (India) Private Limited India 100 100

   AME Medical Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Gippsland Pathology Service Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Jandale Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

      Integrated Health Care Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Queensland Specialist Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   PHC Pathology Holdings Asia Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Specialist Diagnostic Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100

      Queensland Medical Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  PHC Diagnostic Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Norcoray Pty Ltd Australia 50 50

   Norcoray Unit Trust (c) Australia 50 50

   North Coast Nuclear Medicine (QLD) Pty Ltd Australia 77 77

   Orana Services Pty Ltd Australia 50 50

   Orana Services Trust (c) Australia 50 50

   Brystow Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Healthcare Imaging Services (WA) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Healthcare Imaging Services (SA) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

62



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

ProPorTIon oF ownErshIP
InTErEsT anD voTIng

PowEr hElD BY ThE grouP

namE oF suBsIDIarY

PlaCE oF
InCorPoraTIon
anD oPEraTIon

2012
%

2011
%

   Healthcare Imaging Services (Victoria) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Healthcare Imaging Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

    Campbelltown MRI Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

    Queensland Diagnostic Imaging Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  The Ward Corporation Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Symbion International BV Netherlands 100 100

    Mayne Nickless Incorporated United States 100 100

    Symbion Holdings (UK) Ltd United Kingdom 100 100

     Idameneo UK Ltd United Kingdom 100 100

  ACN 008 103 599 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  ACN 063 535 884 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  ACN 063 535 955 Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  PHC Employee Share Acquisition Plan Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

   Symbion Employee Share Acquisition Plan Trust Australia 100 100

   Senior Executive Short-term Incentive Plan Trust Australia 100 100

   Symbion Executive Short-term Incentive Plan Trust Australia 100 100

  PHC Finance (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

  Sumbrella Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

a)  The Group purchased the remaining 28% of equity in Digital Diagnostic Imaging Pty Ltd on 1 July 2011 (equity holding effective 1 
July 2011: 100%)

b) Incorporated during the financial year

c) These Australian controlled entities are required to prepare audited financial reports.

d)  All entities are domiciled in their country of incorporation. No controlled entities carry on material business operations other than in 
their country of incorporation.

e)  Other than the controlled entities referred to in c) above, no other Australian controlled entities are required to prepare financial 
reports or to be audited for statutory purposes. These entities have obtained relief from these requirements because;

 – They have entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee (refer note 30); or

 – They are small proprietary companies; or

 – Their trust deeds do not specify these requirements.

29.  suBsIDIarIEs (CONTINUED)

63 Primary Health Care Ltd Annual Report 2012



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

30. DEED oF Cross guaranTEE

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly-owned subsidiaries listed below are relieved from 
the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports, and Directors’ reports.

It is a condition of the Class Order that the relevant holding entity and each of the relevant subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee. The effect of the Deed is that each holding entity guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event of 
winding up of any of the subsidiaries in each Group under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under 
other provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, each holding entity will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has 
not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the event that each holding entity is wound up.

Primary Health Care Group – Deed of Cross Guarantee dated 23 June 2008
Primary Health Care Limited entered into a Deed of Cross Guarantee with certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries on 23 June 2008. The 
holding entity and subsidiaries, subject to the Deed of Cross Guarantee as at 30 June 2012, are the same as the prior financial year as follows:

Primary Health Care Limited (holding entity)

Idameneo (No.789) Limited

Health Communication Network Limited

Healthcare Imaging Services (Victoria) Pty Limited

Healthcare Imaging Services Pty Limited

Idameneo (No.123) Pty Limited

Queensland Diagnostic Imaging Pty Limited

Queensland Medical Services Pty Limited

Specialist Diagnostic Services Pty Limited

PHC Diagnostic Imaging Holdings Pty Limited

PHC Healthcare Holdings Pty Limited

PHC Medical Centre Holdings Pty Limited

Sidameneo (No.456) Pty Limited

PHC Pathology Holdings Pty Limited

Consolidated income statements and consolidated balance sheets, comprising holding entities and subsidiaries which are parties to the 
above Deed, after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed, at 30 June 2012 are materially consistent with the Group’s 
consolidated Income Statement and consolidated Balance Sheet disclosed elsewhere in this financial report.

31.  FInanCIal rIsk managEmEnT

(a) Overview
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk, including interest rate, currency and price risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and procedures for measuring 
and managing risk and the management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout this financial report.

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, 
and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market 
conditions and the Group’s activities.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial asset held by the Group fails to meet its contractual 
obligations under the terms of the financial asset (to deliver cash to the Group). 
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31. FInanCIal rIsk managEmEnT (CONTINUED)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises principally from its trade receivables due from external customers. The carrying amount of the 
Group’s trade receivables, representing the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as at the reporting date by segment, is as follows:

ConsolIDaTED

sEgmEnT
2012
$000

2011
$000

Pathology 60,253 50,074

Imaging 18,269 18,760

Medical Centres 10,097 10,645

Health Technology 1,414 14,344

Corporate 22 18

90,055 93,841

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the bulk billing of services by medical practitioners to whom the Group 
charges service fees for use of medical centre and imaging facilities. A large proportion of the Group’s receivables are due from 
Medicare Australia (bulk-billed services) and health funds. The remaining trade receivables are due from individuals. The concentration 
of credit risk relating to this remaining debt is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Geographically there is no 
concentration of credit risk. 

The ageing of the Group’s trade receivables and an analysis of the Group’s provision for doubtful debts is provided in note 10. 

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet its obligations to repay financial 
liabilities as and when they fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities and by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based 
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

ConTraCTual Cash Flows

2012
CarrYIng
amounT

$000
ToTal

$000

lEss Than 1
YEar
$000

1 To 5
YEars

$000
> 5 YEars

$000

Consolidated

Gross bank loan 932,611 1,023,540 60,620 962,920 –

Retail bonds 152,274 191,274 12,000 179,274 –

Accrued interest 6,780 6,780 6,780 – –

Finance lease liabilities 2,839 3,146 1,641 1,505 –

Trade payables and accruals 92,929 92,929 91,040 1,889 –

Payables relating to acquisitions 12,523 12,523 9,540 2,983 –

1,199,956 1,330,192 181,621 1,148,571 –

The repayment of contractual cash flows due in the period less than one year from 30 June 2012 will be met through the ordinary 
working capital cycle of the Group, including the collection of trade receivables (30 June 2012: $90.1m).

ConTraCTual Cash Flows

2011
CarrYIng
amounT

$000
ToTal

$000

lEss Than 1
YEar
$000

1 To 5 YEars
$000

> 5 YEars
$000

Consolidated

Gross bank loan 975,468 1,093,892 77,647 1,014,292 1,953

Retail bonds 152,274 215,274 14,000 201,274 –

Accrued interest 15,912 15,912 15,912 – –

Finance lease liabilities 5,728 6,289 2,253 4,036 –

Trade payables and accruals 79,477 79,477 78,825 652 –

Payables relating to acquisitions 21,422 21,422 17,816 3,606 –

1,250,281 1,432,266 206,453 1,223,860 1,953
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31. FInanCIal rIsk managEmEnT (CONTINUED)

(d) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. When 
considered appropriate, the risk is managed by the Group by the use of interest rate swap contracts.

The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 30 June 2012.

FIxED InTErEsT raTE

2012

avEragE
InTErEsT

raTE
%

varIaBlE
InTErEsT

raTE
$000

lEss Than
1 YEar

$000

1 To 5
YEars

$000
> 5 YEars

$000

non
InTErEsT
BEarIng

$000
ToTal

$000

Consolidated

Financial assets

Cash 3.20 10,432 – – – – 10,432

Receivables – – – – – 161,498 161,498

Investments – – – – – 5,920 5,920

Financial liabilities

Payables – – – – – (129,332) (129,332)

Finance leases 8.20 – (1,467) (1,372) – – (2,839)

Gross bank loan 6.45 – (2,337) (930,274) – – (932,611)

Retail bonds 7.53 (152,274) – – – – (152,274)

(141,842) (3,804) (931,646) – 37,018 (1,040,274)

The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 30 June 2011.

FIxED InTErEsT raTE

2011

avEragE
InTErEsT

raTE
%

varIaBlE
InTErEsT

raTE
$000

lEss Than
1 YEar

$000

1 To 5
YEars

$000
> 5 YEars

$000

non
InTErEsT
BEarIng

$000
ToTal

$000

Consolidated

Financial assets

Cash 4.55 43,252 – – – – 43,252

Receivables – – – – – 158,658 158,658

Investments – – – – – 1,966 1,966

Financial liabilities

Payables – – – – – (126,761) (126,761)

Finance leases 11.81 – (1,613) (4,115) – – (5,728)

Gross bank loan 7.96 (956,775) (3,348) (13,392) (1,953) – (975,468)

Retail bonds 8.96 (152,274) – – – – (152,274)

(1,065,797) (4,961) (17,507) (1,953) 33,863 (1,056,358)
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31. FInanCIal rIsk managEmEnT (CONTINUED)

(d) Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the Group’s exposure to variable interest rates during the financial year, 
projecting a reasonably possible change taking place at the beginning of the financial year, held constant throughout the financial 
year and applied to variable interest payments made throughout the financial year. A 50 basis point increase represents management’s 
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates. For the year ended 30 June 2012, if interest rates had been 50 basis points 
higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the impact on profit and loss would have been as follows:

ProFIT (loss)

50BP
InCrEasE

$000

50BP
DECrEasE

$000

Consolidated

30 June 2012 – variable rate instruments (2,845) 2,845

30 June 2011 – variable rate instruments (5,632) 5,632

(e) Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates their net fair values. 
The following financial assets are remeasured at fair value at reporting date on the following basis:

Available-for-sale financial assets
Certain investments held by the Group are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value less any impairment losses. 
The fair value of the Group’s available-for-sale investments is calculated using closing bid prices of securities held, that are listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange.

(f) Other 

Currency risk
The Group transacts predominately in Australian dollars and has a relatively small exposure to offshore assets or liabilities. The Group 
predominately uses the spot foreign currency market to service any foreign currency transactions. A sensitivity analysis has not been 
performed on the currency risk as this is not considered material.

Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by Primary. A sensitivity analysis has not been 
performed on the price risk as this is not considered material.

(g) Capital management
The Group manages its capital to maximise the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the interest bearing liabilities disclosed in note 19, cash and equity 
attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in notes 21, 23 
and 24. The Group’s policy is to borrow centrally using a variety of capital market issues and borrowing facilities to meet anticipated 
funding requirements.
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32. noTEs To ThE Cash Flow sTaTEmEnT

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

(a) Reconciliation of cash
For the purposes of the cash flow statement includes cash on hand and in banks.  
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled  
to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

Cash 10,432 43,252

(b)  Reconciliation of profit from ordinary activities after related  
income tax to net cash flows from operating activities

Profit attributable to equity holders 116,615 78,285

Depreciation of plant and equipment 62,191 60,968

Amortisation of intangibles 23,675 21,228

Net (profit) loss on sale of property plant and equipment 333 (4,249)

Share of net profit of associates – (202)

(Profit) on sale of investments – (785)

Non-controlling interest 2,327 1,478

Increase (decrease) in:

 Trade payables and accruals 4,270 (1,912)

 Provisions (7,439) (3,538)

 Deferred revenue 2,497 (4,474)

 Tax balances 11,947 11,864

 Share option reserve 884 1,288

Decrease (increase) in:

 Consumables (464) (1,307)

 Receivables and prepayments (2,840) (7,442)

 Deferred borrowing costs 14,709 9,210

Net cash provided by operating activities 228,705 160,412

(c) Non cash investing and financing 
During the financial year 3,840,301 (2011: 5,415,730) and 337,210 (2011: 325,116) shares were issued pursuant to the Dividend 
Reinvestment and Bonus Share Plans respectively. These transactions are not reflected in the cash flow statement.
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32. noTEs To ThE Cash Flow sTaTEmEnT (CONTINUED)

ConsolIDaTED

(d) Financing facilities 
2012
$000

2011
$000

Current
Secured Loan facility
 Amount used 2,337 2,141
 Amount unused – –
non Current
Secured Syndicated Debt facilities
 Amount used 920,000 885,726
 Amount unused – 38,137
Secured Bilateral multi-option facility
 Amount used – 75,000
 Amount unused 100,000 –
Secured Loan facility
 Amount used 10,274 12,601
 Amount unused 7,482 5,350

On 21 October 2011 Primary completed financial close on the refinancing of the Group’s syndicated bank debt facility, which was due to 
mature in December 2012.

The $1.02bn refinancing provides an extended bank debt maturity profile for Primary as follows:

 – A $770m three year four month non-amortising facility, maturing February 2015;

 – A $100m three year four month revolving working capital facility, maturing February 2015;

 – A $150m five year non-amortising facility, maturing October 2016.

Amounts unused on non current facilities are able to be drawn during the course of the ordinary working capital cycle of the Group. 

(e) Businesses and subsidiaries acquired

(i) Health-related practices
Members of the Group continued to acquire health-related practices to expand their existing businesses. 

It is not practical to show the impact of the individual medical practices acquired during the year on the Group’s results for the year 
(as required by AASB 3), as it is impractical to allocate the costs associated with the Group’s multi-disciplinary medical centres to the 
individual medical practices acquired.

(ii) Summary

ConsolIDaTED

ThE nET ouTFlow oF Cash To aCquIrE BusInEssEs Is rEConCIlED as Follows:
2012
$000

2011
$000

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired
 Health related practices – 792

– 792
Goodwill
 Health-related practices 57,115 77,639

57,115 77,639
Consideration – cash paid to acquire businesses
 Health-related practices 57,115 78,431
 Controlled entities 1,000 1,538
 Decrease in payables relating to acquisitions 8,899 6,481

67,014 86,550

Cash paid for acquisitions 67,014 86,550
Less cash acquired – –
Net payments for the purchase of businesses 67,014 86,550

33. suBsEquEnT EvEnTs

There has not been any other matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.
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34. ConTIngEnT lIaBIlITIEs

ConsolIDaTED

2012
$000

2011
$000

Treasury bank guarantees
 Statutory requirement 17,897 17,897
 Other 6,548 5,011

24,445 22,908

35. ParEnT EnTITY DIsClosurEs

The summary Balance Sheet of Primary Health Care Limited at the end of the financial year is as follows: 

BalanCE shEET
2012
$000

2011
$000

assets
Current 154 53
Non-current 3,299,268 3,863,618
Total assets 3,299,422 3,863,671
liabilities
Current 11,814 18,053
Non-current 1,082,528 1,536,046
Total liabilities 1,094,342 1,554,099
net assets 2,205,080 2,309,572
Equity
Issued Capital 2,369,229 2,357,623
Retained earnings (158,964) (56,863)
Cash flow hedge reserve (14,769) –
Share-based payments reserve 9,584 8,812
Total equity 2,205,080 2,309,572

The Statement of Comprehensive Income of Primary Health Care Limited for the financial year is as follows

sTaTEmEnT oF ComPrEhEnsIvE InComE
2012
$000

2011
$000

(Loss) profit for the year (86,753) 26,624
Other comprehensive (loss) (14,769) –
Total comprehensive income (loss) (101,522) 26,624

36. PrImarY BonDs sErIEs a

Information in respect of Key Financial Disclosures in respect of the ASIC Class Order [CO 10/321] and clause 10.2 of the Trust Deed, for 
the year ended 30 June 2012 is provided below:

(i)  Primary Bonds Series A rank equally amongst themselves and at least equally with all other unsubordinated and unsecured debt 
obligations of Primary, other than those obligations mandatorily preferred by law; ahead of ordinary equity of Primary and of 
Primary’s obligations that are expressed to be subordinated to Primary Bonds Series A; and behind Primary’s secured debt (Secured 
Syndicated Loan Facility, Secured Working Capital Facilities A, B and C and Secured Loan Facility);

(ii)  Primary has not materially breached any loan covenants or debt obligations (whether or not relating to Primary Bonds Series A) 
during the period covered by this Report; and

(iii)  Key financial ratios are set out below. A description of these ratios and how they are calculated is included in section 3.1 of the 
Primary Bonds Series A Second Part Prospectus.

30 JunE 2012 31 DEC 2011

Primary Bonds series a

Gearing Ratio 0.50 0.53

Interest Cover Ratio 4.32 3.86

Working Capital Ratio 1.03 1.19
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1. Stock exchange listing and domicile
 Primary Health Care Limited is a listed public company, incorporated and operating in Australia.

  The shares of Primary Health Care Limited are listed by ASX Ltd on the Australian Securities Exchange and trade under the 
code “PRY”.

2. Voting rights
  Votes of members are governed by Primary’s Constitution. In summary, each member is entitled either personally or by proxy or 

attorney or representative, to be present at any general meeting of Primary and to vote on any resolution on a show of hands or 
upon a poll. Every member present in person, by proxy or attorney or representative, has one vote for every share held.

3. Corporate information

 Auditor Share Registry
  Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Computershare Investor Services Pty Ltd 

10 Smith Street Level 4, 60 Carrington Street 
PARRAMATTA NSW 2150 SYDNEY NSW 2000 
 GPO Box 7045 
 SYDNEY NSW 1115

 Company’s registered office
 Level 1/30-38 Short Street 
 LEICHHARDT NSW 2040 
 02 9561 3300

4. Number of holders of equity instruments as at 19 September 2012

 Ordinary Share Capital
  501,717,314 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 7,969 individual shareholders.  

All issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share. 
13,419,000 unlisted share options have been granted to 619 persons. 
Share options do not carry any voting rights. 

5. Distribution of shareholders as at 19 September 2012

numBEr oF sharEs hElD
InDIvIDual

sharEholDErs

1 – 1,000 2,674

1,001 – 5,000 3,681

5,001 – 10,000 955

10,001 – 100,000 644

100,001 – 999,999,999 93

100,000,000 and over 0

Total 8,047

753 shareholders hold less than a marketable parcel of shares.
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6. Top 20 shareholders as at 19 September 2012

namE

numBEr oF
FullY PaID
orDInarY

sharEs % oF ToTal

National Nominees Limited 105,766,782 21.08

HSBC Custody Nominees 84,950,533 16.93

J P Morgan Nominees Australia 78,267,081 15.60

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd (PB SEG Account) 25,497,472 5.08

Idameneo (No 122) Pty Ltd 23,656,866 4.72

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (Master Custodian DRP Account) 23,656,866 4.63

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 21,337,425 4.25

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited <NT-Commonwealth Super Corp A/C> 8,943,397 1.78

Citicorp Nominees (Colonial First State Investment Account) 8,689,982 1.73

UBS Nominees Pty Ltd 8,625,284 1.72

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (DRP Account) 8,337,063 1.66

J P Morgan Nominees  Australia Limited (Cash Income Account) 8,220,202 1.64

Dr. Edmund Bateman & Mrs. Belinda Bateman 6,489,568 1.29

RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 5,253,454 1.05

AMP Life Limited 4,920,452 0.98

Abtourk Syd 391 Pty Ltd 2,855,086 0.57

Argo Investments Limited 2,823,947 0.56

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited- GSCO ECA 2,728,635 0.54

QIC Limited 2,568,378 0.51

Charado Pty Ltd 2,555,053 0.51

Total 435,693,876 86.84

7. Substantial shareholders 

orDInarY
sharEholDErs

numBEr oF FullY
PaID orDInarY

sharEs

% oF ToTal IssuED
CaPITal as aT ThE

DaTE oF EaCh noTICE

Maple-Brown Abbott Limited 46,719,307 9.34%

Schroder Investment Management Australia Ltd 45,429,228 9.05%

EG Bateman and related entities 39,310,941 7.92%

BT Investment Management Limited 35,425,356 7.06%

Caledonia Investments Pty Ltd 33,423,488 6.66%

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Holdings, Inc and its subsidiaries 30,840,207 6.15%

National Australia Bank Limited and its associated entities 30,707,874 6.12%

BNP Paribas Investment Partners (Australia) Ltd 25,063,313 5.00%

Information in the table above is as per the most recent substantial shareholder notices received by the Company as at 19 September 2012. 

8. Primary Bonds Series A as at 14 September 2012
  1,522,740 Primary Bonds Series A are held by 2,004 individual bonds holders. 

Primary Bonds Series A do not carry any voting rights.

9. Distribution of Primary Bonds Series A as at 19 September 2012

numBEr oF hElD InDIvIDual PrImarY BonDs sErIEs a holDErs 

1 – 1,000 1,853

1,001 – 5,000 132

5,001 – 10,000 6

10,001 – 100,000 12

100,001 and over 1

2,004

Further information about Primary Bonds Series A is available on Primary’s website at 
www.primaryhealthcare.com.au. 
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This report is printed on Maine Recycled.

Maine Recycled is produced with a blend of 60% post consumer waste fibre and 40% FSC® certified virgin fibre. 
Made with fibre derived only from sustainable sources and is produced with a low reliance on fossil fuel energy. 
Maine Recycled’s low carbon footprint has been neutralised to zero from seedling to delivery at printer through the 
purchase of carbon offsets. This chosen offset project is the Kasigau Corridor REDD+ project in Kenya. A programme 
which makes a difference to not only the precious carbon sink but the local community and people who inhabit 
the land. Every tonne of Maine Recycled sold means A$23 will go towards helping this valuable and worthy cause.

Designed and produced by ArmstrongQ www.armstrongQ.com.au
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